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Friday, December 9, 2016
--- On commencing at 8:59 a.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning, everyone, please be seated.


Okay, Mr. Nettleton, any preliminary matters?

Preliminary Matters:

MR. NETTLETON:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman and Panel.  The only preliminary matter I have is the filing that was made last evening concerning the exchange we had yesterday, and the document concerns excerpts of the consolidated Hydro One business plan as it relates to the areas that we discussed, particularly the common costs, and at the consolidated level the description of the strategy, and we are hopeful that that addresses the issue that you raised, and I believe it should be marked as an exhibit.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, we are now at K10.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K10.1:  FILING MADE CONCERNING EXCHANGE THAT WAS HAD AT THE DECEMBER 8TH SITTING.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Okay.  We will take a look at this, Mr. Nettleton, and provide our comments later.


Okay.  We will assess the schedule before we leave today at noon to make sure we are all comfortable that we can conclude on Monday, and if we are not, at that point we will see what else we can -- what other arrangements we have to make, but let's leave that until the end of this morning, okay?


Mr. Stephenson.

HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - FINANCE PANEL, resumed

Joel Jodoin,
Samir Chhelavda,
Keith McDonell,
Judy McKellar; Affirmed.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Stephenson:

MR. STEPHENSON:  Good morning, thank you, Mr. Chair.  Good morning, panel.  My name is Richard Stephenson.  I am counsel for the Power Workers Union.  I think most of this is going to be for Mr. McDonell, and perhaps -- I think most of it for Mr. McDonell.


Let me just give you a road map of where I am going to go.  I am going to start with a little bit about -- virtually all of this is going to be about compensation costs, including pension.  I want to talk a little bit about the historical background on your comp costs, and then I'm going to talk a little bit about the 2015 collective agreements, and then I am going to talk a bit about where you are at in terms of compensation and pension, and then I am going to finish up with Mercer, okay?


MR. McDONELL:  Sure, thank you.


MR. STEPHENSON:  One of the things that you talk about in your evidence regarding compensation for your unionized staff is that your current collective agreements by necessity build upon whatever collective agreements preceded them.  Each round of bargaining doesn't start with a clean piece of paper, it starts, in effect, with the agreement then in existence; correct?


MR. McDONELL:  I would certainly agree with that.  I'd probably even go a little bit further and say our existing Hydro One collective agreements are built upon the collective agreements that we had from Ontario Hydro when we broke up in 1998.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And can you help me with one thing?  I have forgotten this, Mr. McDonell.  Were you at the old Ontario Hydro or did you join subsequent to that?


MR. McDONELL:  I was at Ontario Hydro, yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And so similarly just on that theme, the Hydro One pension plan was also an inherited entity; correct?  That came to you via the statutory evolution of Ontario Hydro into Hydro One; correct?


MR. McDONELL:  That is correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And the Hydro One pension plan was itself a statutory entity under the Power Corporation Act; correct?


MR. McDONELL:  That is my understanding, yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  So -- and you have been involved in collective bargaining over the years for Hydro One; correct?


MR. McDONELL:  I have been, both with the PWU and the Society, yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And is it fair to say, sir, that bearing in mind that collective bargaining is -- starts with your current agreement that for a variety of reasons that I am going to talk about in a second, seeking to obtain absolute rollbacks with respect to compensation is an extraordinarily difficult outcome to achieve for Hydro One; is that fair?


MR. McDONELL:  Yes, I would agree with that.  I think in labour-relations parlance that's called rigidity, that unless there is some burning platform or something very dramatic, it is a very difficult thing to have rollbacks on benefits, pension, or wages.  Yes, I would agree with that.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And Hydro One doesn't have at its -- in its arsenal of collective bargaining tools some of the tools that may be available to other companies in other industries, and I am just going to identify a few of them for you.  Number one, it doesn't have the ability to threaten to leave the jurisdiction; correct?


MR. McDONELL:  That is correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  It doesn't have a viable threat of insolvency; correct?


MR. McDONELL:  Correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  It doesn't have a viable ability to outsource to other jurisdictions significant portions of work that is being done by the unionized workforce.


MR. McDONELL:  What do you mean by "other jurisdictions"?  Do you mean outside the province?


MR. STEPHENSON:  You know, literally outsourcing functions to -- you know, you hear about people outsourcing work to India or to other countries where there may be lower wage rates.  There's not a material ability to do that.


MR. McDONELL:  I would probably say there is no material ability, yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And there is very limited ability to automate functions that haven't already been automated.  I mean, I appreciate that that may be -- that's always subject to change, but there is a lot of your work that simply cannot be automated beyond where you are at today.


MR. McDONELL:  That's a pretty broad statement.  I am not sure I could totally agree with that, because there are lots of innovation that's going on within the company, so I don't think I can necessarily agree with that.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay, fair enough.  But at some point you need a person climbing up a pole and stringing a wire.


MR. McDONELL:  That's true.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And so -- and then, lastly, one other tool which can be available to an employer is the threat of a potentially extended lockout during collective bargaining such that it imposes, you know, essentially economic stress on the workforce and therefore seeks to provide a basis for concessions.  That's another thing that's available to some companies, and I am going to ask you whether it's available to your company.


MR. McDONELL:  Well, I would say it would be difficult to sustain a very lengthy work stoppage, but that's not to say that we don't prepare for a work stoppage.  Every time we go into collective bargaining we do a very robust round of contingency planning.  So we don't go into collective bargaining thinking that a work stoppage might not occur.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Right, in fact, you had an extended work stoppage with the Society some number of years ago.


MR. McDONELL:  Yes, in 2005 we had a 17-week work stoppage; that's correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  But my understanding is that at least -- and I don't know where it is today, but at a point in time in the past Hydro One had concluded that its ability to operate its system in the face of a work stoppage of that kind of duration from the PWU was extremely limited, if not nil.


MR. McDONELL:  I would agree.  I mean, we certainly would be able to make safe, but there certainly would be a significant disruption on our customers if we had a lengthy work stoppage.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And so all of those factors combined, I take it, limit Hydro One's ability to extract absolute concessions, at least from my client at the bargaining table; is that fair?  Those are real limits?

MR. McDONELL:  I think what you are really getting at is bargaining strength, and I think both parties do have bargaining strength.  But I would agree with generally your statement that those are certainly major factors that we'd have to consider for each round of bargaining.

MR. STEPHENSON:  As a result of those factors, isn't it -- and I am not asking you to reveal secrets here.  But as a general matter, each side understands that in order to extract a concession with respect to one item, in all likelihood there has to be some kind of quid pro quo somewhere else in the agreement that forms the basis of an overall agreement?

MR. McDONELL:  I think that's just a general comment about bargaining in general, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  The reality is that if you have bargaining with respect to a single item, it's very difficult.  You need to have lots of items in play, and you trade one off against the other, correct?

MR. McDONELL:  Yes, and I think both parties have shown the ability to find those trade-offs that's a benefit for both the employer, the union, as well as the customer, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And over the years, Hydro One has succeeded in getting certain things that are important to it in terms of being able to operate its business on a cost effective basis, in terms of flexibility and so forth, that don't necessarily involve absolute concessions with respect to wage rates, correct?

MR. McDONELL:  Yes, I would agree with that.  I mean, I think in our evidence, we do point to a number of what I would call incremental improvements for us in order to be able to constrain costs or increase flexibility without maybe reducing wages.  But we have found other ways to reduce costs and constrain costs, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And I am going to come back to this in a minute.  But one of those ones, and we have talked about this before, is there is a -- you now have, and for a number of years have had a category of employees called PWU temporaries. or the hiring hall.

MR. McDONELL:  The hiring hall, yes, that is a temporary-type employee, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And that is something that you have used as a means of efficient and cost-saving deployment of resources, in terms of operating your business, correct, relative to simply increasing the complement of regular employees.

MR. McDONELL:  Yes, in a number of ways.  A hiring hall employee does not join our Hydro One pension plan or our benefits.  We have a little bit more flexibility in moving staff around.  We have the ability to lay staff off without costly severance and notice periods.

So I would say that the hiring hall classification is a more favourable compensation model than a regular employee.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And so if the board sees the dollars that are going into the people -- paying people in the hiring hall, it shouldn't be concerned about that.  In fact, that is a reflection of Hydro One actually saving money, correct?

MR. McDONELL:  That's our view, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Let me come to the 2015 bargaining for a moment.  As I understand it from -- you had -- you successfully negotiated knew agreements with both the PWU and the Society in 2015, correct?

MR. McDONELL:  That is correct.  Three-year deals for both.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And the costs that are implicit in those agreements are the costs that roll into this application for the test years, correct?

MR. McDONELL:  For 2017 and '18, that's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And as I understand it, from Hydro One's perspective, you perceive that you actually successfully achieved something of a paradigm shift, at least in terms of the PWU agreement as coming out of those 2015 negotiations.

MR. McDONELL:  I liked your word, paradigm shift, because I was going the use the exact same terminology.  Yes, and what we were able to do was we were able to negotiate with the PWU a lower than normal base wage increase and lump sums.

And that's actually very significant for a couple of reasons.  We'd never been able to do that with the PWU in the past, and having a lower base rate increase has a multiplier saving effect on other compensation elements that are driven by base rate -- for instance, over time, premium rates, the pension formula, a variety of different allowances that are based on the base rate.  So by having a lower base rate, we are able to find savings in other compensation elements as well.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  That was one of the key outcomes, as I understand it, from a cost perspective for the company.

The other one was the change in the pension rules, correct?  That was a paradigm shift as well?

MR. McDONELL:  Are you referring to the increased pension contributions, or the future benefit changes?

MR. STEPHENSON:  Both of them.

MR. McDONELL:  Okay, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  You achieved positive outcomes, from the company's perspective, in respect of both increasing employee contributions and in respect of rule changes which had the effect of decreasing the value of the pension at the end of the day for employees, correct?

MR. McDONELL:  I agree with that statement.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And by decreasing the value, it decreased the cost, correct?

MR. McDONELL:  Correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And as I understand it, one of the things that was different about this particular round of negotiation is that it was done in anticipation of the IPO, correct?  It turns out the timing lined up, correct?

MR. McDONELL:  That's right.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And this -- at least part of the bargaining directly involved the Province of Ontario, correct?

MR. McDONELL:  That is correct.  There was a central table where the government was involved.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And in fact -- this is terrible, I have now forgotten his name -- the premiere’s appointee running the IPO.

MR. McDONELL:  Ed Clark.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Ed Clark, sorry, yes.  Ed Clark was directly involved in leading the provincial representation at -- that was involved in certain key elements of the new collective agreements, correct?

MR. McDONELL:  To be clear, I was not involved at the central table.  But it is my understanding that Mr. Clark was involved, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Let's put it this way, make no mistake; the province specifically was aware of the content of the collective agreement that was ultimately entered into, and signed off on it, correct?

MR. McDONELL:  That's my understanding.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And that's also true -- my understanding is the Society agreement followed on in time after the PWU agreement, but there was a number of the same elements, the province was also involved, the province also signed off.

MR. McDONELL:  I would agree that the Society signed off on a collective agreement after the PWU.  I am just not a hundred percent sure whether or not they had the same central table.  I just don't know the answer to that.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay, fair enough.  In order to achieve the positive outcomes from the company's perspective, there was some quid pro quos, right?

MR. McDONELL:  Yes, there was.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And a key element of the quid pro quo was the share grant, correct?

MR. McDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And I am not going to get into the details or the mechanics of the share grant beyond a couple of questions.

Number one, the share grants go only to your employees who were employed as of a certain date, correct?

MR. McDONELL:  That is correct.  There is a finite number of employees who are entitled to share grants.

MR. STEPHENSON:  So somebody that was hired, for example, in 2016 into a PWU regular position simply isn't eligible for those share grants, correct?

MR. McDONELL:  I believe, yes.  And that date, I believe, is July 2015.  So any new employees after that date aren't entitled to share grants.

MR. STEPHENSON:  So from the perspective of that employee, they took certain -- in effect, they got -- they got the concessions that were in the agreement but didn't get the offset by way of the share grant; correct?

MR. McDONELL:  If you mean that they would be paying the higher employee contribution rates without the benefit of the share grant, that's absolutely true.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And the share grants also require -- there is a significant hold period for the employees, correct?  They can't dump the shares, if I recall.

MR. McDONELL:  I believe it's two years, but that's so that they could take advantage of a tax deduction by holding it for two years.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  I take it from the company's perspective they actually like the share grants for a completely different reason other than the -- that it allowed them to make the deal.  From the company's perspective it aligns the employees' interests with the company's and the shareholders' and so forth.

MR. McDONELL:  Yeah, I would say, you know, there is skin in the game, right?  The employees' behaviour, their outcomes, are going to be more aligned with the goals and the objectives of the company by having part ownership by share grants.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  If I can, I would just like to take you to Exhibit 9.7, which was marked at the end of the day yesterday.  That's my two-page document with a couple spreadsheets on it.  And the first page you will see is sourced out of Exhibit C1-4-1, attachment 1, which is your payroll table from the pre-filed evidence.  You're familiar with that document?

MR. McDONELL:  I am familiar with that document, and these numbers do look like they came from that payroll table, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And you will see what we have done here, we have just extracted some of the categories of your -- from the table and then outlined some of the information over time.  But what I wanted to review with you, first off, is the complement numbers, okay, the total number of employees.

And let me actually, just before I get into this, we have heard already that the numbers in the payroll table from which this information is extracted is Hydro One Networks combined; correct?

MR. McDONELL:  It is distribution and transmission combined; that's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And I understand that you have been asked the question about whether or not it is possible to disaggregate this table to provide transmission-only numbers; am I right about that?

MR. McDONELL:  I don't think I have been asked.  I know that was part of a conversation with a previous panel.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Well, let's put it this way.  Let me ask you -- and I am not asking you to do it --


MR. McDONELL:  Thank you.

MR. STEPHENSON:  -- I am asking you whether or not that is an exercise which is actually doable in any way which is -- generates numbers which are likely to be accurate and helpful.

MR. McDONELL:  It sounds like an easy exercise, but I am afraid it would be a fairly complicated and time-consuming exercise, for the simple reason that our comp -- our payroll system looks at Hydro One as one company, as a fully-integrated company, so within our compensation data within our payroll system we don't separate DX and TX.  So to replicate that payroll table and break out DX/TX would be -- I am not saying it is impossible, but it would be a very challenged exercise.

MR. STEPHENSON:  The bottom line is you have some employees that spend virtually all of their time in TX or in DX; right?  Some.

MR. McDONELL:  Some, and --


MR. STEPHENSON:  And then you have other employees that spend time in both; right?

MR. McDONELL:  Correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And the proportion of time that those people spend will vary on an individual basis; correct?

MR. McDONELL:  On an individual basis, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay, let's use these numbers for the time being, but if -- let me just -- I want to get an undertaking on this.  If somebody asks you to do a TX-only version of your payroll tables, if somebody does -- I'm not -- and you're able to do that, then will you undertake to recreate Exhibit 9.7 using TX-only numbers?  Because I can't do it, but if you do it -- if you are able to do it otherwise, I want you to do it here too.

MR. McDONELL:  I guess with all those caveats of "if" and "if", yes, because the data you have extracted is from the original payroll table.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right, okay.

Let --


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Stephenson, that's an undertaking then?

MR. STEPHENSON:  Yes, please.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So it's J10.1, and it's to update K9.7 if required?

MR. McDONELL:  If.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay, thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. J10.1:  TO UPDATE K9.7 IF REQUIRED.

MR. MILLAR:  We know what it is.

MR. McDONELL:  I guess we would have to do it on a best-efforts basis, but --


MR. STEPHENSON:  Understood.  So if I could just take --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Stephenson --


MR. STEPHENSON:  -- you to K9.7 for a moment --


MR. QUESNELLE:  -- Mr. Stephenson, perhaps I could just interject at that point, because we did have this conversation with the earlier panel.  And I think the -- maybe there is a simplified way to get at this.  I recognize that this is compensation, and I recognize your answer, Mr. McDonell, that what this spreadsheet represents and this is to functionally pay people, you amass it in this fashion, but I would take it as well that from an accounting perspective you account for the costs of transmission and distribution separately, and that there would be overlaid -- okay, this is in aggregate, and then to account for the books of the divisions, if I can call them that, there would be an applied proportionality to these numbers that come out of here for transmission and distribution, just from a work order system or at a higher level, but there must be a way that you can channel the cost to transmission versus distribution?

MR. JODOIN:  And we are looking into that.  We recognize the request, completely agree we do have accounting allocations that would get it to the TX and DX level.  We are just looking at what type of detail is available in relation to the payroll tables that are in the exhibit.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, that's very helpful.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Back to you, Mr. McDonell.  And on K9.7, just a couple of observations here.  So if we look at the PWU regular complement, am I right here that what the numbers reveal is that over the period from 2013 to 2018 there is a period of time where there is some increase in the PWU regular complement, but by the end of the period the aggregate numbers are, in fact, lower than they were in 2013; correct?

MR. McDONELL:  Subject to check.  I haven't looked at all your numbers.  I have spot-checked it, and they did seem fairly accurate, so subject to check I would agree that between the period 2013-2018 the aggregate number of PWU regular employees has gone down, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And then if we look at -- when I -- the PWU total wages is simply a, as I understand it, reflected in your payroll table, is -- it's just that, it's your total wage bill for that category of employees, not including pension, if I understand it correctly.

MR. McDONELL:  It represents all the employees on payroll as of December the 31st.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  It's the annual pay of all of the employees on the payroll.

MR. McDONELL:  That were on payroll on December the 31st.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right, right.  And so that's a -- I mean, but that's a -- I take it that that's a good illustrative metric from -- you considered to show trends.

MR. McDONELL:  Yeah, I think it's a fair representation, and I guess I point out that this is a payroll table that we have been filing in our various filings ever since we've had filings as a company.  So it is consistent, and the purpose is to really show trends.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  And the trend it shows, I take it, you will see I have a column there showing year-over-year change in total wages.  And again, you know, obviously the numbers bounce around, but there is an aggregate increase over the period of 2013 to 2018 of 6.4 percent; correct?

MR. McDONELL:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Yeah.  And assuming that that's a correct number, that then leads to an average annual increase of 1.25 percent; correct?

MR. McDONELL:  I see your math.  You just took the 6.41 divided by five.

MR. STEPHENSON:  No, there is a compounding in there as well, right.

MR. McDONELL:  Compounding, okay.  Right, subject to check.

MR. STEPHENSON:  That number's actually, assuming again subject to check, that number is lower than your inflation rate over the period on an annual basis, correct?

MR. McDONELL:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And that number, again as you go down, again subject to check, is lower than the average annual increase in management compensation.

MR. McDONELL:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Yes.  And it's less than the average of your total comp, which is at 1.94 percent, correct?

MR. McDONELL:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Just going down and looking for a moment at -- there is a category, second from the bottom, which I call casual complement; this is the one that's casual in your chart.  These are your construction workforces, correct?

MR. McDONELL:  It would be our construction employees plus the PWU hiring hall.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And there is a pretty substantial increase in the complement that is reflected over time?

MR. McDONELL:  Yes, and that's a reflection of us utilizing a more flexible workforce, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Well, it's also a reflection of the size of the capital work program.

MR. McDONELL:  True, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And when you look at the change in the cumulative wages for that category at 26 percent higher over the period, I take it that's largely driven by the increased complement.  It's simply more people, therefore more pay.

MR. McDONELL:  Yes, driven by the increasing work program.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Yes, okay.  And then I'd just like the take you over to the second spreadsheet in the document, if I can.  And this document -- these numbers are derived out of Exhibit C 1, tab 4, schedule 1, page 29, it's figure 8, I believe.

MR. McDONELL:  I have that.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And so what I've -- the -- figure 8 expresses the contributions of PWU-represented employees to the pension plan in percentage terms.

MR. McDONELL:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And I have tried to take those and look at them from the perspective of the dollars of contributions that an employee would make, and the changes in the dollars that an employee would make.

Before I get into the numbers, I just want to clarify one thing.  There is an acronym that is used in your figure and I have replicated in the chart, which is YMPE.

MR. McDONELL:  That's the yearly maximum pension earnings.

MR. STEPHENSON:  As I understand it, that’s a term of art in the world of pensions, correct, and that it affects -- there’s two tiers of contributions, correct?

MR. McDONELL:  Essentially, yes.  There is an employee contribution up to the YMPE.  I think it's around $60,000, in that neighbourhood anyways.  And after $60,000, the pension contribution is a different contribution than below YMPE.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Yes, it's a higher --


MR. McDONELL:  It is higher.

MR. STEPHENSON:  You then pay at a higher tier, a higher rate.

MR. McDONELL:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  So I am going to focus on the base -- I’ll call it the base contribution, the one below YMPE.

MR. McDONELL:  The first column?

MR. STEPHENSON:  Yes.  And just to put this in dollar terms, if an employee was contributing a thousand dollars to their pension on an annual basis is in 2012, by 2017, they are going to be contributing $1,950, correct?  They have had a 95 percent increase in their contributions, correct?

MR. McDONELL:  Subject to checking your math, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I mean, the bottom line is they basically -- by 2017, they will have effectively doubled, correct?

MR. McDONELL:  Mr. Stephenson, I think we just have to make a small correction.  I think on the second -- or I guess the third column, where you have cumulative percentage increase in contributions above YMPE, I think you mean to say below YMPE on the third column.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Yes.  Actually, yes, that should be below, you’re right.  And then above is the fifth column.

MR. McDONELL:  Exactly.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Yes, you're right.  So, yes, the base contribution will have more or less doubled.

MR. McDONELL:  95 percent.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Yes, and above it, it's gone up by 73 percent, thereabouts.

MR. McDONELL:  And that's an actually consistent with all our representation groups.  All representation groups have been pitching in and increasing their employee pension contributions, Society and non-represented MCP staff.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right, the bottom line being that these are -- you view these and they simply are, in absolute terms, very substantial increases in pension contributions, fair?

MR. McDONELL:  It is, and we are driving to a 50/50 contribution rate, and we are certainly making progress that way.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I just want to talk to you for a second about 50/50.  I know that is a goal of the corporation, and it's something that the board has talked about, correct?

MR. McDONELL:  Many times, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  But I just want to talk for a second about 50/50.  It's correct that many public sector entities have got pensions that are based on a 50/50 contribution model, correct?

MR. McDONELL:  I believe OMERS would be an example.

MR. STEPHENSON:  But the structure of those plans is fundamentally different than the Hydro One plan.  The Hydro One plan, as I understand it, is a single employer, employer-administered and managed defined benefit plan, correct?

MR. McDONELL:  Correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  50/50 plan -- and in those plans, under the structure of those plans, employees make a formulaic contribution which amounts to a fixed amount, correct?

MR. McDONELL:  Correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And the employer is responsible for bridging the gap between that amount and the amount necessary to have actuarial sufficiency, correct?

MR. McDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And in those circumstances, the relativity of the employee contribution and the employer contribution is not an input; it's an output, right?  You only know what the employer has to contribute once the actuarial calculation has been done, right?

MR. McDONELL:  I am not a pension expert, but that is my basic understanding.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And it's obviously done on a forecast basis, right?

MR. McDONELL:  Yup.

MR. STEPHENSON:  On a 50/50 plan like OMERS, there's joint administration of those plans between employees and the employer, correct?

MR. McDONELL:  It is a joint sponsored pension plan.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And if there are actuarial changes that result in either the need for more money, or sometimes less money, the burden or benefit of those actuarial changes is shared between both groups equally, correct?

MR. McDONELL:  That is my understanding.

MR. STEPHENSON:  For the Hydro One plan, insofar as there are actuarial changes that either cost you more money or save you money, that is entirely to the burden or benefit of the employer, correct?

MR. McDONELL:  That's my understanding.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And that's just driven by the fundamental mechanics of the plan.  That's how they work, right?

MR. McDONELL:  Right.

MR. STEPHENSON:  So for a -- there is a period of time when the Hydro One plan was in surplus, right?

MR. McDONELL:  Yes, I believe it was the Ontario Hydro plan.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Well, in any event, so let's deal with it.  And when these plans go into surplus, the employer is able legally, subject to the actuarial calculations, to reduce or even stop making contributions at all, correct?

MR. McDONELL:  I think I would have to do a subject to check on that.  I just don't understand the legalese of a surplus.

MR. STEPHENSON:  You have heard the concept of a contribution holiday.

MR. McDONELL:  I have heard that, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay, and that -- in any event, in a world where -- well, I don't need to get into that part.

As I understand it, one of the documents we have got in evidence in this case is, in fact, your most recent actuarial --


MR. McDONELL:  Valuation.

MR. STEPHENSON:  -- report.  Valuation, yeah.  And the valuation had the effect of in fact improving the financial health of the plan, correct, and reducing some of the costs relative to a pre-report; correct?

MR. McDONELL:  Subject to my colleague Samir correcting me, I believe that's true.

MR. CHHELAVDA:  So, yes, the valuation report did indicate that the cash contributions required be reduced, pre-report.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right, and you have reported that, and that's actually been fed into your revenue requirement in the hearing; correct?  That's --


MR. CHHELAVDA:  That is correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And that positive outcome was entirely to the credit of the employer, 100 percent; correct?  Like, the employee contributions are not affected at all by virtue of that positive valuation.

MR. McDONELL:  We believe that's correct, because the employee contributions are negotiated.  That's how that's arrived at.

MR. STEPHENSON:  They are formulaic.

MR. McDONELL:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  They are completely independent of the valuation.

MR. McDONELL:  Correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay, the last thing I want to talk about is Mercer.  It's Exhibit K9.8.  And this was described to us briefly yesterday.  Not as the -- it's not actually the report, but it's a presentation based upon a report which you anticipate receiving soon.

MR. McDONELL:  It is a slide deck that was shared with the intervenors for our upcoming distribution file, and I believe it was November the 30th, I believe the date was.  It's not the final report, it's a slide deck, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  But as I understand it, you are not anticipating the numbers to change materially, or do you know?

MR. McDONELL:  I don't believe they are.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And when we got this document it had a three-page explanatory note from Hydro One.  You are familiar with that document; are you?

MR. McDONELL:  I did certainly have input into that document, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And it tells us a number of things.  One of the things it tells us is that these numbers are, again, Hydro One Networks as a whole, as distinct from transmission only; correct?

MR. McDONELL:  Correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And that the employee profile of transmission only is different from a compensation perspective than all of the Hydro One Networks total; correct?  Insofar as it will include more of your construction workforces.

MR. McDONELL:  That is correct.  And that's why we were making that point that from a transmission business focus the Mercer study does not include -- so fairly heavily populated roles that are found on our transmission business.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Yeah, if we -- I mean, going back to your payroll table, the one thing you can say, I think, about the division between transmission and distribution is that the number -- the dollars for casual employees is skewed fairly heavily to transmission over distribution.

MR. McDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And that's because your capital work program is performed -- the construction workforces are involved in that on the capital -- on the transmission capital side much more than distribution.

MR. McDONELL:  Yes.  And I think Mr. Bowness tried to explain this a little bit when he was on an earlier panel, and it's really got to do with the work jurisdiction rules --


MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.

MR. McDONELL:  -- between construction employees and the PWU.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.

MR. McDONELL:  So what we tend to see on the transmission side is a much heavier focus on construction employees.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  The key number that I am sure you are going to be asked coming out of this Mercer presentation appears on -- hang on.  Yeah, it's slide 12.

MR. McDONELL:  This is the overall summary?

MR. STEPHENSON:  Yeah.

MR. McDONELL:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Yeah.  And as I read the document, it's reflecting three work groups, and then there is an overall.  And as I read this, I believe that for your overall group what this document is telling me is that the Mercer number is that you are 14 percent above P50; is that how I understand this?

MR. McDONELL:  Correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And for the Power Workers, you are 16 percent above P50 and so forth; correct?

MR. McDONELL:  Correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And you will see that there is some -- there has been some increase in the variance above P50 since the 2013 report.  You see that?

MR. McDONELL:  Yes, because it was 1.1 in 2013, now 1.14.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And do you have any -- how do you account for that?  What's your -- what's the company's conclusion as to how that has come about?

MR. McDONELL:  One of the primary drivers for that increase that we received information from Mercers, who obviously conducted the study, was the impact on pensions.  I believe ten out of the 17 participants in the Mercer study have defined contribution plans or hybrid plans, they don't have defined benefit plans, and that is a significant factor for that increase to 1.14.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Do we know -- because this is a relative measure, you're comparing Hydro One to P50, do we know whether the P50 number has gone up or down since 2013?

MR. McDONELL:  I don't have that information.  I don't think it's in the slide deck.  It perhaps might be in the final report.  I don't know the answer to that.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  So let me just end with this, and this is -- I am now going to focus on the PWU number.  I appreciate you didn't have this data in 2015 when you were doing the bargaining with the PWU.  But if somebody had given you -- I am using the royal "you" here.

MR. McDONELL:  Okay.

MR. STEPHENSON:  The corporate you as opposed to you, Mr. McDonell.  The instruction that you have got to get an agreement with the PWU that gets us to 1; in other words, you have got to extract 16 percent more out of the cost of this agreement, okay?  What can you tell us about the achievability of that back in 2015?

MR. McDONELL:  Well --


MR. NETTLETON:  Well, Mr. Chairman, you know, as much as Mr. Stephenson is framing this in the past, obviously there is an ongoing relationship with the Power Workers Union and with collective-agreement negotiations going forward.  And I am concerned that where we are going now is an exploration of what negotiation skills and strategies that the company may employ or may not employ.  And I am thinking that this wavers a little far away from where we are today with respect to this application, so I am concerned with the question that's being asked.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Stephenson, do you have any response to that?

MR. STEPHENSON:  Having litigated this issue to the Supreme Court of Canada, Mr. Nettleton, I can tell you that there are people in this room that are going to argue in this case that Hydro One acted unreasonably in making the agreement that it did with the PWU in 2015 by failing to get down to median and, as a result of that, there should be a disallowance of all of the costs in excess of the median.

People in this room will make that argument.  In my view, that's an argument that should not succeed.  But it's an argument that will be made.

I want to ask this witness on behalf of Hydro One that if those were the instructions back in 2015, what is his judgment as to whether or not that was an outcome that was achievable.

MR. NETTLETON:  I am in your hands, Mr. Chairman, because there is an element of -- I mean, the deal is what the deal is, as it was achieved in 2015.  I think there is a lot of hindsight analysis with what Mr. Stephenson is suggesting.  The fact that this has gone to the Supreme Court of Canada, and the fact that Mr. Stephenson has litigated that issue all the way to the Supreme Court of Canada is very nice and interesting.


But the reality is that we are here today to talk about this case and this specific issue, and what this specific issue is about is a forecast of a revenue requirement for the test year period.

I am just mindful of the issue, and it does seem strange that Mr. Stephenson is asking a question that would seem to be helpful to Hydro One.  But I am in your hands, in terms of whether you want that type of issue addressed.  I don't want to be accused of engaging or allowing engaging of sweet heart cross.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Stephenson, if you are correct and if people in this room do make the argument that you suggest they will, Hydro One will be responding to that argument with its argument, will it not?


MR. STEPHENSON:  No, but this is a question of fact; this isn't about argument.  The question is whether or not Hydro One -- it is going to be -- I am predicting, because it's been asserted in prior cases, that Hydro One acted unreasonably when it made that agreement.


I just want to get the best evidence that I can before this Board about the reasonableness of Hydro One's conduct.  And in my submission, the company's judgment about what was achievable and wasn't achievable at that time is the best evidence of the reasonableness of their conduct.


The witness may not -- he may simply be able to say I don't know.  The witness may say -- we have already had some evidence about this, but that is, in my submission, the single best evidence as to the reasonableness of their conduct.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Nettleton, Mr. Stephenson did take the witnesses earlier in his cross and suggesting that there were limits to -- which is on the same point, I believe, limits to that Hydro One has in comparison to other companies that negotiate collective agreements.

So in that vein, I think your witnesses have already responded to like questions.  So to Mr. Stephenson's point, if they don't know, they don't know, or if they --


MR. NETTLETON:  It's more, sir, an issue that I wanted to raise and not be accused, if you will, of Hydro One participating in sweet heart cross.

If you want, if you think it would be helpful to the Board to have this question addressed, I’m happy to do so.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I think if the witnesses have any comment on the question, they are free to make it.

MR. McDONELL:  So this is what I would say.  It's a very speculative question, for sure.  But I would say, based on my experience, it would have been very difficult to have a wage rollback.  It would most likely result in a work stoppage of some duration.

We believe that we have negotiated a win/win/win collective agreement in 2015 for the employer, for the union, and for the customer.  As you mention, I believe, earlier, we don't have the ability to do some things like other employers do, like stockpile our product or move our product elsewhere.

So with all that said, I would tend to agree that that would be a very difficult thing to achieve.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you very much, those are my questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Stephenson.  Mr. Rubenstein?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  Just a preliminary matter.  Mr. Stephenson, in K9.7, his chart that he went through with the witnesses, I was wondering if he would be willing to file this version in Excel.


I’m just running some of the numbers quickly using, on the fly, my math here.  But I am just having a hard time trying to get to how he came up with the average annual change in wages.  I would just like to see the Excel file that that is derived from.  I may be incorrect on the math.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Does that pose a problem, Mr. Stephenson?


MR. STEPHENSON:  That's not a problem at all.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


MR. STEPHENSON:  I believe we got it right; I hope we got it right.  But I will be -- I will take any corrections.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, thank you.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  Panel, I have a compendium of documents.  I am not sure if the panel has them, if the Board panel has them.

MR. MILLAR:  So it's Exhibit K 10.2.
EXHIBIT NO. K10.2:  CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM OF SEC FOR THE FINANCE PANEL


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Before we get into compensation, I would like to address a question about another small area, and I was hoping this panel would be able to help me, and that's with respect to the calculation of in-service additions.

And if we go to page 2 of the compendium, this was a presentation -- I believe was actually Mr. Penstone's responsibility, but one of the issues I think is probably best for this panel.


On page 3 of the compendium, it talks about for programs and you will see under the note, it says:


"In-service additions calculated on a ratio basis."

I was just wondering if you could help me with what that means.


MR. JODOIN:  Sure, I can help with that.  So for a lot of program-based work at Hydro One, the most efficient and best way to predict upcoming in-service additions, in test years and beyond, is to look at historical spending levels for those programs, and timing of in-service additions with respect to actuals relative to the capital spend.

And what happens at that point is a ratio would be derived to be applied to test year capital spend.  So basically, the calculation itself would be any opening construction in progress for a given year, plus the in-year capital spend for that specific program, and that would represent the total amount of outstanding cap ex or construction in progress that was not complete from prior years, multiplied by the ratio to come up with an in-service addition dollar.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Just to be clear, we are talking about programs.  That's separate from projects?


MR. JODOIN:  That's correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Programs, for example, as I understand, I think it was defined earlier on, it is essentially -- pole replacements is a program, correct?  That was an example?

MR. JODOIN:  That's a great example.  The prior panel is in a better position to outline all of the programs, but, yes, that is a good example.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is the ratio specific to the program or is it a company-wide program?

MR. JODOIN:  It's specific to each program, individual program.  So the example you used would have its own ratio based on historical levels of spending and in-service additions.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And is that updated?  How do you determine -- what is the historical point that you are looking about to determine the ratio?  Is it -- and is it updated through each application?  Is it on a yearly basis?

MR. JODOIN:  So the ratio -- and I -- is updated through the planning cycle.  The prior panel would have been in a better position to speak to the specifics.  But, yes, that is updated.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right, thank you very much.

Let me start with respect to compensation.  And I just wanted to -- at C 1-4-1, attachment 1 -- this is the payroll table -- I just wanted to go back and understand what that includes and what that doesn't include.

MR. McDONELL:  Sure.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And my understanding from the technical conference and from the cross-examination this morning, this represents all employees who are on the payroll on the last day of the year, what they had been paid in that year.

MR. McDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What it doesn't represent then is the total amount in any given year that you have paid out in wages, in compensation.

MR. McDONELL:  That is correct.  So maybe I can just give you an example.  If you had ten employees on December the 29th that weren't on payroll on December the 31st, those ten employees' compensation would not be included.  It is literally a snapshot of the employees on December the 31st and the compensation for those employees.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And my recollection from, I think maybe it was a technical conference in previous cases, because I think this issue has come up before, it's, you can't calculate what you -- the total wages that you have paid out in a given year.

MR. McDONELL:  No, I wouldn't agree with that.  The way we have presented this table in this filing is consistent with how we have filed the payroll table since 2000, since we have been doing our filings.  So to be consistent we have continued to just show the year-end compensation.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, with respect to 2017 and 2018, where you are forecasting, how are you doing that?

MR. McDONELL:  Forecasting based on some assumptions of inflation, economic increases, I think it was 2 percent.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I don't mean -- sorry.  I don't mean the wage changes, but I am just trying to understand -- for past years we can only say who is on the payroll at the end of the year.  Is that -- are you essentially doing the same thing for 2017 and '18?  You are forecasting who is going to be on the payroll at the end of the year, and then those -- and the total wages that they would accrue throughout that year?

MR. McDONELL:  Essentially I would have received input from our finance group in terms of what the projected head count would be for 2017 and 2018, so I would use those numbers and apply some assumptions to what the compensation would be for those head count.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And is that year-end head count?

MR. McDONELL:  Year-end, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And again, this is for the entire Hydro One Networks.  This is not --


MR. McDONELL:  Transmission and distribution, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is there anywhere in the evidence -- so actually, let me back up.  And this does not include pensions, OPEBs as well, what those costs would be for those employees?

MR. McDONELL:  It does not.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is there anywhere in the evidence -- and I couldn't find it -- that actually says how much you are paying for the forecast and previously, how much you are paying in compensation costs, all-in?  What you paid in a given year all-in with respect to wages, bonuses, overtime, pension, OPEB, the whole -- what are the compensation costs, and then what are they going to be for 2017/2018.  I actually couldn't find anywhere in the evidence that says that.

MR. JODOIN:  So the answer to your question is, no, we have not summarized those dollars specifically anywhere in the evidence.  But what I will say is, built up in the revenue requirement for OM&A spend and capital spend would include all of the items you have just listed off.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I accept that.  But there is no place in the evidence.  Are you able to provide that?

MR. McDONELL:  We don't believe that we can do that, no.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then I guess if you can't do that you are also then unable to break it down into transmission and distribution?

MR. JODOIN:  So maybe I can expand on the difficulty in providing that information.  A lot of these types of questions come back to planning and how the work is planned.  So number one, this question probably would have been a little bit better for the planning panels.  With that being said, Exhibit C 1-5-1 outlines costing of work assumptions, and included in that, and if we could start with the standard labour rate, includes various components of an employee's time that is charged to the work program.  And perhaps we can pull that up.

Just bear with me here for one second.

So if we move to page 3 of this exhibit, this represents an example of how a -- in this case a regional maintainer electrical employee is costed in the work program.

So if we focus on the test years for 2017 and 2018, the hourly rate would be used to derive the investment plan in their estimates in coming up with work programs.

So my point is, is they would use this hourly rate to cost out work, but it's very difficult to extract each individual component and show it in a similar way as Mr. McDonell has shown in the evidence for the payroll tables.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is there a way that you could simply show -- you're seeking revenue requirement of about $3-billion over the two years.  What percent -- like, how much is compensation in that?  And then, you know, broken down, I guess, by the various categories, some -- can you help us there?  Can you provide any information?

MR. JODOIN:  I do recognize that request, and I understand the request.  It's a difficult calculation.  I don't have that with me right now.  And it goes back to the discussion that we had a little bit earlier, and it's something we are considering and we are looking at.  I just don't know if we can do it.  It would have to include estimates and allocations.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, can I ask you to undertake to do it?  I know you are thinking about it.  I just want to put the marker down that we would like -- I understand that there may be footnotes and calculations and the whole works, but obviously it's an important part to understand what the compensation component is.

MR. JODOIN:  So I can't speak out of turn.  Like I said, this probably would have been a better question for the planning panel, as they build up the investment plan.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I would have thought the compensation panel would...

DR. ELSAYED:  Maybe -- sorry, maybe I'm -- I am not sure if I understand the question or the answer, but when you have a total OM&A or capital budget which is submitted for approval -- let's take the OM&A -- are you suggesting that in the breakdown of that OM&A for 2017 you don't have a labour component identified separately?

MR. JODOIN:  Not -- I don't have that data right now.  What I can offer up is on a best-efforts basis we can see if that data is available, and I think that is what I am alluding to here.  And that's why I brought up this exhibit, is work includes various components, and an employee's hourly rate also includes various components, and to the extent that that labour rate is used to derive a work program that the investment planning group would use to derive, I guess my point is there a lot of complexity, and I don't know right now whether I can do it, or whether Hydro One can do it.  But what I can do is check to see if we can provide that.

DR. ELSAYED:  Just as a follow-up question, typically, by using that labour component, don't you use that data for your planning staff numbers?  How do you do that then?

MR. JODOIN:  So the exhibit that's on the screen here, that is used to derive the plan numbers.  The standard labour rates are used to build up an investment plan.  I guess I am just not sure to the extent that they can scale it back and provide its individual component in the same way that the payroll tables are outlined in Mr. McDonell's exhibits.  That's the disconnect that I am making.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, let's put aside necessarily it has to look exactly like the payroll table.  I mean, my experience before this Board is that standard labour rates to determine capital programs is not uncommon.

But ultimately, there is a -- when you are in negotiations, you want to know what, if I make this concession, how is this going to -- what's the compensation amount.  So obviously you need to have some numbers to determine that.

MR. JODOIN:  And I’ll say it again.  I completely agree with what you are saying, and I think we are going to do down a best-efforts basis to provide that data.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, thank you.  Let's take that as an undertaking, Mr.  Millar.

MR. MILLAR:  It's J10.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J10.2: Best effort to provide data, RE: Total Compensation.

MR. THOMPSON:  Can I just interrupt?  I must be missing something, but what's in the financial statements if it's not actual costs of compensation?

MR. JODOIN:  The financials -- it's there, the costs are there.  I am just -- what I am trying to describe is our ability to scale out each component.  So when -- the difference between the systems -- so what Mr. McDonell is able to pull from his payroll systems are payroll at a certain in point in time, which you have heard is December 31st at a given year, and that's for an entire legal entity, Hydro One Networks, so employees that work within that entity.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.

MR. JODOIN:  They can pull specific payroll dollars by the components that are outlined here.  The financial system -- when an employee charges to a project, they are charging using a labour rate.  And while that labour rate includes all of the items that are in Mr. McDonell's tables, they are built into a standard rate, and there are different rates for different types of employees.

So going back to that level of detail is very time consuming and very hard, given the system constrictions.  So it's not to say that the information is not in there; it's just in there in a different slice.

I know that doesn't answer your question but does that help in...

MR. THOMPSON:  I will leave it there.

MR. JODOIN:  Sure, and I just want to reiterate.  On a best-efforts basis, we are going to try and provide this data.  I just can't tell you right now whether or not we can do it.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I will take the undertaking I can get, but it's obviously important.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Rubenstein, it may be of assistance because, you know, I don't want Mr. Jodoin trying to get to a level of granularity that you don't require.  So maybe you can describe what you are looking for from a comparison point of view over year over year, or what elements because we want -- you know, the best efforts may not accomplish it if you think you have to go into disaggregate right down to projects levels.

So I think maybe if you could rearticulate what you are looking for, perhaps that will assist.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.  I think at the basic level it's -- at the end of the day, you have paid a certain amount in compensation.  You have compensation costs for 2012 through 2015, and then a forecast for 2016 and 2018 would be the -- for at least Hydro One Networks.  And then if we could try to determine what percentage went to distribution and then, if possible, a breakdown by wages versus the pension and OPEB components, et cetera.

MR. QUESNELLE:  And there may be a mix thereof of actual going back and disaggregating accounting and also a layer of allocation on your typical allocation costs between the different divisions and within them. Mr. Nettleton?

MR. NETTLETON:  Yes, I am also misunderstanding, I think, the level of granularity that my friend is looking for.  So I am going the start from the payroll table that is on the screen, that Mr. Rubenstein first alluded to in his cross.

And what I understood was, firstly, an allocation between transmission and distribution.  Have I got that right?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.  I actually think the starting point should not be the payroll table.  I think the easiest way to think about it is at the end of the day, Hydro One Networks pays --


MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Rubenstein, I don't mean to cut you short.  But what we heard was that this table is the product of a financial system, and the cost system is a different system, a different information system.  So we are working within what we have, within the constraints of the information systems that we have.

So we have to understand those constraints and what I want to do then is, within those constraints, give the witnesses a clear understanding of the type of information that you are looking for, recognizing those pragmatic constraints.

This is not new information.  This is information that came on the record when this application was filed, and there have not been any requests of this nature beforehand.

That said, we are working our best to give you what you need.  So, please, if you could just work with me and understand what it is, the level of granularity that you are seeking.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, just to go back, because I actually think the cost system may be better than the payroll system.

Hydro One Networks, at the end of the year, pays -- from what I understand, can derive a number that says this is what our compensation costs for the company are, all-in at the end of the year.

Did I -- at least are you able to do that?  Maybe I have misunderstood that.

MR. McDONELL:  That is accurate, yes.  We can do that by looking at T4 slips.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So the idea would then be for each of those years, let's just take the bottom line total number and then, if possible, maybe the same way that you would be doing this table to break out between distribution and transmission, to understand then what that amount would be allocated to transmission and distribution.

And that, to me is -- that is the sort of base-level information I am seeking.

MR. McDONELL:  So when I said that we are able to calculate the entire compensation in any year by using T4 slips as an example, that wouldn't include some elements like OPEB costs, probably pension costs, probably -- so there is probably some limitations to what we can provide.

And then we would have to be able to use some sort of allocation methodology, which I think that is kind of what we are struggling with.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's fine.  If you have to make a set of assumptions, if you just lay them out in the response, we can judge those assumptions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  So I take it, Mr. Rubenstein, you are looking for relative changes ultimately.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  As long as the approach is consistent with in all years and with the assumptions stated, at least the relative changes can be observed.

MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you, that's helpful.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So, moving on.

MR. McDONELL:  Thank you.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we can turn to page 6 of the compendium, and you were asked how you can demonstrate in this interrogatory by CME, what information you could provide to demonstrate that the compensation levels, how they compare to their peers.

And you talk about a number of the studies that we have already talked about.  As well, you talk about, beginning at line 33:

"Previous Mercer study compensation studies are relevant to the extent the they somehow favourable trending in all three employee categories toward median.  Since the last study in 2013, Hydro One has continued to reduce compensation costs in all three of the employee categories."

And then you talk about how you are doing that.  Do you see that?

MR. McDONELL:  I do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And Mercer, at this time -- at page 8 from your evidence, you actually show that table, am I correct?

MR. McDONELL:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that’s what you are talking about, the favourable trend?

MR. McDONELL:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And my understanding, and Mr. Stephenson took you to that, since that there has been an undated Mercer study for what will be the upcoming distribution application.  Am I correct?

MR. McDONELL:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  We see that on page 15 of our materials.  And if we turn to page 27, this was the table Mr. Stephenson talked to you about.  We see that summary; correct?  Of where we are now -- where Hydro One is now?

MR. McDONELL:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you'd agree with me that it shows the trend has reversed itself.

MR. McDONELL:  I would say -- you know, I am not sure I would say totally reversed itself, but I would say that it has moved away from market median.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And it has moved away from the market median for both -- for the non-represented, the professional, which I understand is the Society, and the Power Workers Union; correct?

MR. McDONELL:  Each category has slightly changed.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And on my understanding on page 23 of the compendium, this shows the peer groups.  Correct?

MR. McDONELL:  Of your compendium?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MR. McDONELL:  That's correct, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the peer group are entirely of utility companies, correct -- utility, or I think --


MR. McDONELL:  TX, DX, and other regulated industries.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  It does not include for, say, non-utility-specific jobs.  You are not comparing those against a broader category; am I correct?

MR. McDONELL:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, on page 11 of the compendium -- this was the, I call it the context submissions that you have provided this week, am I correct, to go along with the filing of the presentation; correct?

MR. McDONELL:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you say a few things, and I want to understand a few of the comments that you make with respect to it.  And if we turn to page 12, as I understand it, what you are saying here is that you have new agreements with the PWU and the Society; correct?

MR. McDONELL:  Are you looking at number 5?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I am looking at paragraph number 5.

MR. McDONELL:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the date of the study captures information as of September 1st, 2016; correct?

MR. McDONELL:  The data used for the Mercer study, yes, September 1st, 2016.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you say that there were lower base wage adjustments going forward; correct?

MR. McDONELL:  Yeah, what we are saying here is with both the PWU and the Society the full impact of what we have previously described as lower base wage increases hasn't fully resulted in the savings that we would expect, because the -- for the PWU we are only two-thirds of the way through that collective agreement, so we have one more year of lower wage increases, and with the Society there will be two more years of lower wage increases, so if we did the study in 2017 and 2018, we would expect to see a more favourable result to market median.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But the new agreements -- well, obviously they have not run their course.

MR. McDONELL:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The data includes elements of the new agreements as of the September 1st, 2016; correct?

MR. McDONELL:  But we haven't -- yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I think you were just saying it's your view that Hydro One will improve against the median going forward; correct?

MR. McDONELL:  That would be our expectation.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But you don't know that; correct?

MR. McDONELL:  No, we don't know that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, on paragraph 6 -- sorry, I apologize.  Just going back to the data that you have used in the September 1st, 2016 information.  Does that information include the 2 percent lump-sum payment to PWU members that were made in 2016?

MR. McDONELL:  Yes, it does.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And does that include the Society members' payments?

MR. McDONELL:  Yes, it does.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Does it include OPEBs?

MR. McDONELL:  I will have to do -- I have to take that -- I just don't know the answer to that.  It might be...

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I saw no reference to it.  That's why I am asking.

MR. MILLAR:  Did you want to take that as an undertaking, Mr. McDonell?

MR. McDONELL:  Whether or not it includes OPEBs?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MR. McDONELL:  That's...

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If you turn to page 24 it talks about the elements, so maybe...

MR. McDONELL:  I think on page 10, where it describes the various methodology used, it's our belief that under "pension and benefits", where the first bullet, "applied a relative value process to determine standard employer-paid costs", that would be OPEB.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And then using this page, it's your view as well where it says -- under either "base salary wage" or "total cash compensation" the lump-sum payment is included in the base salary?

MR. McDONELL:  I just know that we -- I don't know if it's in the base salary or we just provided it separately, but I do know that we did provide the base -- or the lump sum, I should say.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can you undertake to just check that that's actually -- that and the OPEBs are in the -- in -- you may have provided it, but it shows up in the data?

MR. McDONELL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  It's J10.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J10.3:  TO CHECK THAT THE LUMP SUM AND THE OPEBS ARE IN THE DATA.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And now at paragraph 6, so going back, you mentioned that the -- and I think we have just talked about it -- that the information does not contain the impact of negotiated cost-savings initiatives, such as future pension reductions and updated pension valuations with the OEB?

MR. McDONELL:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And am I correct then it would also not include the costs, the additional costs, on a going-forward basis as well that were negotiated?

MR. McDONELL:  What do you mean by additional costs?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, my understanding, there is an additional lump-sum payment of 2 percent to be paid to Society members on April 1st, 2017.

MR. McDONELL:  But that would not impact the pension.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, I am just saying these are other -- you are talking about the savings.  I want to know, these are other costs that obviously couldn't be included as well.

MR. McDONELL:  Right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Am I correct?

MR. McDONELL:  Well, I believe -- wasn't that just the undertaking I took that we would check to see if the lump-sum payments are included?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Under the assumption that they are included.  I'm just talking about, you are talking about the going-forward costs clearly are not included in the study, as I understand it.  That's what paragraph 6 is talking about here?

MR. McDONELL:  Yeah, what paragraph 6 is saying is how they valued the pension and benefits, they use a standard methodology, so they are not looking at each individual employer's assumptions and demographics, they have a standard value, and they benchmark everybody's pensions and benefits against that standard, so it's not including some of the cost savings that we have described.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And those cost savings are primarily going to be realized, I understand, going forward.

MR. McDONELL:  On the benefit -- future benefit on the pension valuation that's going forward, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So I want to understand about the costs going forward as well that would match that.  Am I correct that there is an additional 2 percent lump-sum payment being paid in April 1st, 2017 to Society members?

MR. McDONELL:  That is correct.  I will have to check that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can we take it subject to check?  As well as I understand there is a share grant program with PWU and Society members that will begin to be -- begin in 2017 and 2018 respectively?

MR. McDONELL:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So that's obviously not included in the study as well.

MR. McDONELL:  I have to check.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, at paragraph 7 you mention here -- you mention that many of the peer-group companies have defined contribution plans, and yours has a defined benefits plan, and that negatively affects Hydro One, or do I understand the --


MR. McDONELL:  No, I understand.  I think I mentioned earlier ten of the 17 participants have a defined contribution plan.  We -- Hydro One, for our non-represented employees, we have closed our defined benefit plan, and we have recently introduced a new defined contribution plan, but because it's so recent there is only a few members in it at the moment.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Why is that important for the Board?  It seemed to me that you do have a more generous plan than others that's --


MR. McDONELL:  Well, I think it's important for the Board, because one thing we have heard many times is that there is a concern about our pension costs, and by closing the defined benefit plan and -- or introducing a defined contribution plan, it's going to be a lower-cost plan.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But still the vast majority of your employees are on a defined benefit plan?

MS. McKELLAR:  If I can add to that, one of the principles that we had, I mentioned yesterday when I was testifying, was that it was to be affordable, and one of the things that was top of mind to the board was to introduce a defined contribution plan.

So all of our newly hired executives are on that new defined contribution plan, which is tracking at about or below the 50th percentile of peer groups that have a defined contribution pension plan.  So that was an affordability issue.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That’s going forward for the new year.

MS. McKELLAR:  It's in existence as of January 2016. All of the newly hired executives, as well as any new management staff or non-union staff that come in will partake in that particular pension plan.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But for your --


MS. McKELLAR:  For the rest of the staff, it has to be negotiated.  And we did -- as Mr. McDonell said, we did negotiate successful changes to those plans starting in 2025 both for the PWU and the Society in our last round of bargaining.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now at paragraph 8 on page 13, as I understand it, what you have done here is you have asked Mercer to essentially try to calculate if you were at the P50, what the difference would be.  And their number was 75 million on a Hydro One Networks basis, and approximately 17.6 would be 12.5 million would be allocated to transmission OM&A.

MR. McDONELL:  I think you said 75; I think it's 71 million.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  My apologies.

MR. McDONELL:  No worries.  And approximately -- so if you did the allocation 17.6 percent 12.5 million.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So can I ask you to -- I understand the 71; I think that's on the slide, there's a slide 14 about that.

Can I ask how you allocated -- where is the 17.6 coming from?

MR. JODOIN:  If you don't mind, could you just repeat the question just for full clarity?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.  At paragraph 8, as I understand it, you had asked Mercer to determine if you were 50th percentile, approximately what would be the reduction in your compensation costs.  Their number was 71 million; slide 14 is the slide about that.

And then you allocate approximately 17.6, 12.5 million of that to transmission OM&A.  I am just trying to understand, because we have been talking about the allocation issue, where is the 17.6?  How was that derived?

MR. JODOIN:  I believe, and I would appreciate the opportunity to check this as well, but it was based on work program spending levels, or a derivation of that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I am going to ask you to undertake to provide a more fulsome response.  And I would also like to know how much would be then allocated to transmission capital.

MR. JODOIN:  So if I understand the ask, you are looking for a more full response to the derivation of the 17.6 percent, and also to include the equivalent on capital spend for transmission?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, please.

MR. MILLAR:  It's J10.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J10.4:  TO PROVIDE A FULLER RESPONSE TO EXPLAIN THE DERIVATION OF THE 17.6 PERCENT, AND TO include THE EQUIVALENT ON CAPITAL SPEND FOR TRANSMISSION


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So let me ask you about the share grant program.  As I understand what the share grant program allows, so for 12 years, PWU and Society members can elect to get paid approximately 2.7 percent of their 2015 salary in Hydro One shares at the IPO price beginning April 1st, 2017, for the PWU and April 1st, 2018, for the Society.

MR. McDONELL:  For the PWU, it's 2.7 of the base salary divided by the IPO price at 2015.  But for the Society, it’s 2 percent of their base divided by the IPO price.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So just let's use an example for the PWU.  If a member is a member of the PWU in 2015, then their 2015 salary was $90,000.  You are taking 2.7 percent of that and you divide it essentially by the 2015 IPO price?

MR. McDONELL:  That's a number of shares.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Shares.  And they will then get that many shares, and they can elect to do that for 12 years?

MR. McDONELL:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that's regardless of the value of the shares at the time?

MR. McDONELL:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So let me ask you, with respect to the difference between the share price at the time you are giving the share grant, and the IPO price, who is paying -- who is paying that amount?  Where are you getting that amount from?

Is that ratepayers are paying that, or is that a shareholder cost?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  So perhaps I could answer that question.  We would be seeking recovery of those costs from customers.  So the way the agreement is structured is there has to be reimbursement agreements in place, and it would be at the lower of the IPO grant price, which is $20.50, or what it's trading at.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  So I am not sure what the share price is today, $23 roughly.  If that stays, if that continues to April 1st, 2017, whatever amount of employees have elected to do this, the difference between 20.50 and $23, that difference you are seeking recovery on.

MR. CHHELAVDA:  No, no, no.  If the price is above the grant price, there is no seeking recovery of that price. That would be -- it's an opportunity cost to the organization.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay, so that's it.  But if it's lower than the share price?

MR. CHHELAVDA:  So if it's lower than the share price, the way the -- maybe if I step back.  It's a little complicated in terms of how the share grants work.

These are shares in Hydro One Limited, the parent company, and so everywhere that you have a unionized employee in every organization so Hydro One Networks, they would then have to pay the cost of those shares to the parent company, right; so the shares have to be paid for.

So right now, we have that pegged at $20.50, which is the IPO grant price.  In the event that the shares fall below the grant price, the reimbursement being requested would be at the lower cost.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I guess that situation, one would assume a PWU member would not be wanting the share grant.

MR. CHHELAVDA:  It wouldn't change the number of shares that they get, right.  Their shares are locked at the IPO grant value.  So it doesn't change the number of shares; all it changes is the cost that Hydro One networks would be seeking recovery of.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right, thank you very much. If I can ask you to turn to page 34 of the compendium, this is the Towers Watson non-executive band compensation study.  You are familiar with this document?

MR. McDONELL:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as I understand it, in 2015, Towers Watson did a study to benchmark your non-executive management compensation bands, correct?

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And this is all non-represented employees under the level of vice president.

MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as I understand it, the study breaks down -- well, if we go to page 35, as I understand what this is showing us is that for the 453 employees who were benchmarked, their positions were benchmarked, you are about 10 percent above the 50th percentile on a total direct compensation basis.  Is that what this table is showing me?

MS. McKELLAR:  If are you go over to total direct comp, 10 percent, yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as I understand it, the study actually breaks down the employees into two groups.  One is the core operational, and that's on page 36.  And there, for 203 employees, you are at, on the total direct compensation, at the benchmark?

MS. McKELLAR:  Correct, 50th percentile.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then on page 37, we have for the 250 support roles, you are 21 percent above the 50th percentile.

MS. McKELLAR:  Correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as I understand this chart, you are actually above the 75th percentile.

MS. McKELLAR:  For this segment support roles, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Why is that appropriate?  Why should ratepayers have to be paying above the 75th percentile for these roles?

MS. McKELLAR:  So one thing I want to say about the difference that we did with this segmentation approach was we felt rather than just use one approach, which would -- could possibly drive the compensation up, we split it into core operations and support roles.

And by doing so, what it means is now we can track those jobs that are support roles and as we give out our annual merit increases, which are not a COLA and they’re not a given that you will get increase to your base pay, we are going the track those jobs and the people in those roles who are tracking from the 50th percentile.  And as they atrit from the organization, we do have a very large demographic that is eligible to retire, we will be replacing those people at the lower level of this compensation by using this benchmarking, so we actually think our costs are going to go down with this benchmarking study.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are they going to go down to the 50th percentile?

MS. McKELLAR:  That is what we are targeting.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  In this test period?

MS. McKELLAR:  It will certainly depend on the number of people who retire and how much we are able to do with our merit increase, but certainly that's what we are targeting.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So is the numbers built into the application based on the 50th percentile for these employees?

MS. McKELLAR:  I would have to check with my colleague.

Also, as they are determining whether or not that's what they can answer, I do want to say -- and it's not that we are not targeting this.  We certainly are looking for bringing this to 50th.  I also want to point out the numbers, though.  It's 2 -- you're looking at a support group of 250 people, and we have, I believe it's about 55, 5,600 regular staff.

So it is important, and we will be tracking it, and I just want to point out, though, it's a small group.  The core operations are right at the 50th percentile as well.

Mr. Rubenstein, if I can point out something else as I review the material again.  My apologies for just noticing this now, but it is something I should have pointed out earlier, is that when we do look at some of these wage rates as well, I will tell you that they are driven up by virtue of the feeder pools that go into these roles, whether they be what we call a band 7, or band 6.  Those are typically our first and second level of managerial positions, and they are attracted from the union-represented ranks, which means that in order to attract them at all they are already coming in with a base salary that is at a certain level, and we are not going to roll that back.

So you do see that when you look at certain job levels, is that there is a salary compression element that affects their wage rates, which we are very mindful of, but we are trying to still attract our best people into management roles.

MR. McDONELL:  So we are going at you in tandem here. So to answer, I think, your question about the costing for the executives, it is not their actual compensation for each band level.  There is going to be an average compensation.  That is what would be in the revenue requirement.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So as I recall my question, my question is, the -- you are talking -- as I understood the evidence, you are working to get to the 50th percentile for these support roles, and my question is, is the numbers that underlie the budget that you are seeking approval for in this application, do they represent that you will be at the 50th percentile in 2017 and 2018?

MR. McDONELL:  No, I don't think we can say that.  It is the -- each band has an average rate based on the incumbents in that classification.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  My last -- I had a question about -- one more on the area of -- this area of compensation.  There was some discussion with Mr. Stephenson about the negotiating process, and as I understood, there was -- the province was at the table as well?  Can you just enlighten me on what -- how this was different than other --


MR. McDONELL:  Yeah, this was different.  I wasn't there, so I will preface my comments by that, but there was what we call a central table, and there was -- and the central table was a multi-employer table, including the province, Hydro One, OPG.  And then there was more local bargaining tables, so Hydro One-specific, would be bargaining some of the non-monetary items.

So the central table was, I believe, negotiating the share grants and the pension contribution increases.  More local collective bargaining was being done at the local level.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Central table was you, Hydro One, OPG, the Society, the PWU, and the government of Ontario?

MR. McDONELL:  I don't believe the Society -- I think I mentioned this before.  I don't think the Society was at the central table, but the PWU, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the government.

MR. McDONELL:  And the government.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then the local table would be you, the -- either individually or --


MR. McDONELL:  Individually.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Was the government at that table as well?

MR. McDONELL:  No.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So at the central table, you are there representing Hydro One --


MR. McDONELL:  Not me, but --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But Hydro One is there representing the corporation, the government is there as the shareholder, the union is there representing the employees.  Nobody is representing the ratepayer; correct?

MR. McDONELL:  The government would be.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The government as a share -- was representing both the shareholder and the ratepayer?  That's your position?  Is that your understanding?

MS. McKELLAR:  Well, I would say management, Hydro One is expected to represent the customers as well as we do any of our bargaining, that's always a view we take, is what is going to be the impact on customer rates.

So I would say certainly the government has the customers, as should we.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And my last question is
-- if I can get you to turn to page 5.

MR. McDONELL:  Of your compendium?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.  And we had asked in this interrogatory about vacancy rates.

MR. McDONELL:  Yes, that was a topical conversation, I believe, at the technical conference.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I just wanted to help understand this again.  As I understand, you don't forecast vacancy rates; correct?

MR. McDONELL:  It's not a metric that we use.  Let's make sure we have the right definition of "vacancy rate".  Vacancy rate in my mind is the number of open positions as a ratio to the number of positions you have in the organization.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's how I would understand it as well.

MR. McDONELL:  Okay.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  My understanding, you don't utilize
-- putting aside it as a metric for measuring, for budgeting do you use vacancy rates as a budgeting tool?

MR. JODOIN:  So from a budgeting perspective, the way each individual group would be built up would -- first starting point is, how many seats are in the house, and what I mean by that is, who is actually there.  Then forecasting into bridge and test years, we would look at -- and by "we" I mean each individual group -- would look at their staffing requirements and their anticipated potential retirements and whether there would be a need to fill that hole.

So all of that being said, there is no -- there is no, I guess, alignment with a specific vacancy rate.  What it looks at is actuals plus forecasted future requirements or maybe not a requirement.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you wouldn't say -- a group wouldn't -- if we take this at sort of a more granular level, a group wouldn't say, you know, "Our unit has 20 people.  Maybe it needs one more for the next two years, 21, and then 22," but corporate-wide we know that at any given time as I understand vacancy rates 1 percent of employees are -- the position is open for -- you know, someone has retired, someone -- there is a little longer recruiting someone, these things happen, and then subtracting that from the -- for the purposes of determining how much money that group would need at any given time.  You don't do that.

MR. JODOIN:  Like I mentioned, we look at the actual head count per group and forecast the requirement for that group's need to fill whatever it is, or, as I mentioned, having not a need.  So if someone may retire and you don't fill that position.

The point is, is it's a point-in-time forecast at a requirement for each individual group.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So, no.  You don't do what I was just describing.

MR. JODOIN:  Correct.  We do what I described.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

MR. CHHELAVDA:  Mr. Rubenstein, can I just make one clarifying comment?  You asked a question about the stock-based comp --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MR. CHHELAVDA:  -- or the share-based comp, and you asked at what value is it recorded at, I believe, or were seeking reimbursement, and I think I misspoke.  The value is going to be the grant date value of $20.50.  There won't be any fluctuation up or down from that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I just want to make sure that I understood.  When you grant the stock, you are granting the stock at 20.50, essentially.  That's the value for the employees' perspective they are getting it at, correct?


MR. CHHELAVDA:  That's the cost to the organization.  So the accounting rules say when you grant these stocks, this is what the accounting cost is to your organization.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So it's not at whatever the value is of that day?  So, $22, $23?


MR. CHHELAVDA:  So the date they physically get the shares, if the value is 30, that's not the cost.  It will be the value of the shares to the recipient.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But for the employees’ perspective, that is obviously a benefit to them.


MR. CHHELAVDA:  Correct.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right, thank you very much.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, thank you.  I think, Dr. Higgin, we will take a break before starting with you at 11:10.
--- Recess taken at 10:50 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:13 a.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, please be seated.
Preliminary Matters:


Mr. Higgin, with your indulgence maybe we will deal with a few matters that we spoke of when we first opened up this morning, and perhaps we should deal with that now just so that we can talk about scheduling and perhaps having Mr. Vels back or not and that sort of thing.

So this -- Mr. Nettleton, I'm just taking up the letter that we received overnight that deals with the consolidated business plan and the status update on the individual performance scorecards.

So we have two areas we wanted to talk about.  First let's deal with those, but then subsequent to that I also want to have a conversation about what this panel may be able to provide on the details of the IPO itself, this conversation we had with panel 1, the strategic panel, and you recall we went through the details of what the -- exactly the corporate structure that was struck, the flow of the dollars primarily around the PILs payments and the provincial contribution.

If this panel can speak to it, we can wait 'til Monday to go to that, or we may have to have one of the panel members back from panel 1.

MR. NETTLETON:  I think specifically if it relates to the transaction involving the change in tax regimes, this is not the right panel.  So we will have to bring people back from panel 1 to address that issue.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Do that Monday?  Yeah, so if we could do that, we will arrange -- we will get to schedule in a minute.  Maybe we can park that, but -- and see when best to do that, but -- so we will hold our questions on that and have someone from panel 1 back for that.

But dealing with the consolidated business plan, the
-- we are satisfied that the -- what has been provided is adequate.  It addresses our concerns.  We have a question that stems from it, and it's about the -- well, maybe, Mr. Thompson, can you address the -- it's the allocation of the -- between distribution and transmission.  We just want to ask a question about it and whether this panel can deal with it or not.  Well --


MR. NETTLETON:  It can.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So the question, there is a change in cost allocation between -- as I understand it, between distribution and transmission to some degree, and we wanted to understand the impact of that on distribution as part of the picture of considering its reasonableness for transmission.

The other area that would be helpful is to know the distribution plan capital budget, and again, that's because of the sense that what we approve in this case is likely to have a spillover effect in that case on the -- in terms of capital planning and that sort of thing, so those were the two areas that I thought some further information should be available if possible.

MR. NETTLETON:  So Mr. Thompson, with respect to the first area, the allocation methodology, this panel, I believe, can speak to it.  In particular, Mr. Jodoin would be able to speak to the allocation methodology that has been used as it relates to common costs.  That's something that I think that this panel can deal with.

With respect to your second area of cap ex expenditures and allocations and the magnitude of cap ex expenditures for the distribution plan, I am not sure that -- well, this panel certainly can't speak to that.  I think that does engage areas outside the scope of this hearing.  I understand what you are saying, though, but it probably would be an area that -- if Mr. Vels is returning then it would probably be an area that you could at least explore with him in terms of what is in the distribution business plan and what that -- any relationship to that plan and the transmission plan.

But I think we are building the case, if you will, for the need for having Mr. Vels return to answer those types of questions.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, let's leave it at that then, thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  But on the -- I would like some clarity, then.  On the -- from Mr. Jodoin, is there a proposed change to the cost allocation model that's been previously used between the distribution and transmission.

MR. JODOIN:  So it's my understanding, as you know, we would update the Black & Veatch common cost allocation model with every rate case that we bring forth, and that would include the upcoming distribution that we are planning on filing.  It's my understanding that the allocation results from the studies were consistent with the transmission that we have put forward in this plan.

MR. QUESNELLE:  So there is no proposed change to the model itself?

MR. JODOIN:  The model itself, no.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  I think we are satisfied with that then.

Turning to the status of the individual performance scorecards, you suggest in your letter that the client would -- first thing we would have is Ms. McKellar provide some background on that, and it's described in your letter.

Perhaps if we did that now, Mr. Nettleton, and this is all about ascertaining whether or not we need to see Mr. Vels back or not, so we thought we would deal with that right -- first thing this morning -- first thing after the break.

So to the extent that we can get a sense of the -- where that -- in the creation of the individual performance scorecards, where we are with that, what the expected delivery time on that, and what's happening, and the relationship of the individual and the team, the relationship between the two, Ms. McKellar, if you can expand on that?

MS. McKELLAR:  Sure, I can give an update on that, Mr. Chair.

So these individual EVP-level scorecards were tabled at the human-resources committee of the board meeting we had December 2nd, which we explain in our letter, and the committee wanted, quite frankly, to see less duplication of the team scorecard metrics on the EVP-level scorecards.  They said, "Show us your personal goals, so things that you personally are doing to contribute to the team measures."


So we have gone back with each of the EVPs, and we are working with them to design things which cascade and are aligned to the team scorecard, and as soon as I am off the stand, I have been following up with them at the end of the day, in terms of where they are at and reviewing them, and I will be working on that again.

The next step is the CEO would review and approve, and then they go out to the human-resources committee of the board, and I did explain to them that this panel had asked, and they understand that it's something that's needed for the hearing, and therefore they are going to be able to review them via e-mail, because there is not another meeting set until February.

So they have agreed they will make themselves available to review these, and I expect to have them in the next week or two, depending on, as I said, the status.  I haven't been able to really check in on all of them.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MS. McKELLAR:  So I won't have them by Tuesday, because I have to have several layers of approval, but everybody does understand and appreciates the need to have them for this panel.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Understood, thanks, Ms. McKellar.

Any questions on that?  Fine.

Okay, let's leave it at that then.  We did discuss, Mr. Nettleton, the timing of it, that we would want to see these before the -- your argument in-chief, which I think is tentatively scheduled for the 22nd of December.  So if that's doable, and then we will just deal with it as we see it.  If the Panel has any additional questions -- and recognizing that this is something that the Panel has requested.  Ms. Girvan?

MS. GIRVAN:  I just had a quick question.  I was unclear about what you were asking for earlier about the transmission and distribution.  Are we still awaiting an answer from Mr. Nettleton as to whether or not the combined transmission/distribution business plan will be filed?

MR. QUESNELLE:  No, I believe that what we have -- what we received overnight is their response to that.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.

MR. NETTLETON:  My understanding, sir, is that that satisfies -- our response satisfies your needs.

MR. QUESNELLE:  It does as far as the Panel goes, and I know Mr. DeRose mentioned yesterday that certainly from CME's point of view his client wanted to reserve the right to make comment on that.  They will have understood what -- and perhaps they have left instructions with Mr. Rubenstein, or --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I --


MR. QUESNELLE:  -- or perhaps you have a concern, sorry.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I do have a question, just before I have a concern.  I just want to understand from Mr. Nettleton, on the -- using the -- I am just looking at K10.1, the consolidated business plan -- the title page says "consolidated business plan 2017 to 2020".  Just to be clear, what you have provided is obviously not the consolidated business plan.  It's simply just excerpts into the -- from the consolidated business plan?

MR. NETTLETON:  Yes, that's my understanding.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  With respect to concerns, I think the only -- I mean, obviously we would like to see the full business plan, but putting that aside, the only thing with respect -- I understand Mr. Nettleton's comment about, well, these are the three areas that they think is most relevant to the application.  The problem is that, from our perspective, is I don't know whether else is in the business plan that may or may not be relevant.  And that's the concern, speaking from my client's perspective, what else.

I would just note that the way that the corporate business plan is being treated in this case and the concerns, this is not the first time that the Board has had to deal with regulated/non-regulated elements.  I am thinking of OPG specifically, and the Board has dealt with it as it required production of the business plan and, in my experience, the unregulated areas have been redacted from all public -- for both public and confidential.  I think there is a check by the Board, but that's not reviewed, and then other elements that are still regulated are provided, but simply on a confidential basis.

And this seems to be -- and it's not clear why, from our perspective, in this case it’s being treated from Hydro One's perspective very different -- especially my recollection from previous Hydro One cases, they have provided the corporate business plan and they have simply
-- I think it's redacted on a public basis, provided confidential the -- I think distribution numbers.  This is my recollection.  I don't have it with me and it's obviously confidential, so I can't verify that.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, one of the things, Mr. Rubenstein, just to tell you what's led to our conclusion on this is that the status of the new company taking on, as it were, out of sync with the creation of the corporate business plan what have you.  So in the context of the transition to the new company and the creation of this, the panel is satisfied that we have gone back on distribution, received the draft going back to November of 2015, and where it leads to the one that was approved on December 2nd.  As you recall going through this, there was in the earlier, you know, evolution in the conversation of this, there was no corporate business plan per se.

I think what we are seeing here is the creation of a new one.  We are satisfied that this satisfies our concerns, as far as something that's umbrella over the distribution and transmission.  How we got there is, you are right, a little different and this isn't locking the Board from the future as to this is the process we will always adopt.

But for the sake of this case, and where we are today and in this hearing, we are satisfied that this addresses the issues that we raised as the panel.  But on go-forward basis, the Board may want to explore this more fully. Whether it does that through the transmission filing requirements or in specific cases, I think -- know that this panel isn't locking in what the Board's approach to this will be.

But in the context of this hearing and taking into consideration the timing of the evolution of the business plans, we are satisfied that this is acceptable.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I am not asking you the change your ruling.

MR. QUESNELLE:  No, I just wanted to give you that comfort, that this isn't locking in the Board as a future approach.  I think it's contextual and temporal.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The only thing I would request maybe is, because we don't know what else is in the business plan, there may have been other areas that may be beneficial to this case and on that context, and we just simply don't know that.

So I just leave that with the panel for its consideration.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Nettleton, any comment on that concern?

MR. NETTLETON:  I do.  The words chosen in my letter are intentional.  The words chosen by my client in that letter are intentional, and they describe fully the reasons why the full business plan is not going do be produced.  It can't be produced.

The full business plan is not related to the old Hydro One.  The new business plan relates to the new Hydro One, and there are fundamental changes associated with the new Hydro One given its public status, publicly traded status, and the information cannot be provided.

So if the suggestions and the reasons that we have included in that letter cannot be acceptable to my friend, and if you want to hear the same words come out of the mouth of the CFO as to the justification for those reasons, then again it sounds like we are building the case to have Mr. Vels back.

But in my respectful submission, that the reasons are clear, the reasons are relevant, and the reasons justify an appropriate balance, if you will, that is consistent with the changes that have been made in the Board's handbooks with respect to the filing of a transmission and distribution plan, and also the bridge that we are trying to create here to address the issue that you have raised, sir, about common costs and what the strategy is at the higher level.

So I think that's the end of it, from our respectful submission.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, I suppose to the extent that would be the end of it, if someone chose to bring a motion forward, this panel has suggested that this has addressed the concerns that we raised.  We haven't heard arguments per se from any of the parties that would argue otherwise, or argue for something different, and the Board would consider that.

So I think to the extent that's the end of it, we will see if it’s the end of it.

MR. NETTLETON:  Sorry, the end of it from Hydro One’s Perspective.  I don't mean to suggest it's the end of it for yours, but I am just simply saying that we -- the reasons are straightforward, the reasons are clear.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Understood.  I was just making sure that people were taking what I had said earlier about this Panel being satisfied with the response, that isn't the Board ruling about whether or not there should be anything provided.  We would hear arguments on that, if someone brought forward a motion on that basis.

Well, with all of that said, we might as well discuss it right now.  Mr. Thiessen, we are trying to get in touch with both Environmental Defence and Anwaatin to find out what their flexibility is.  As you know, we were previously going to attempt to have them both on Monday.

It's more convenient for this panel to sit on Wednesday, as opposed to Tuesday.  So we are determining whether or not Anwaatin specifically is available for Wednesday, which would provide us more freedom on Monday to hear from Mr. Vels and the rest of the panels, witness panels.

I will just canvass here.  Does Wednesday morning create any difficulty for any of the parties that would be expecting to cross-examine?  We may just be dealing with Anwaatin at that point.  I think what we would do is certainly be finished with this panel, and get into the load forecasting on Monday, potentially and hopefully Environmental Defence.  And then on Wednesday -- because I just want to lock down the timeframe for Anwaatin, so we know when, because I think we are doing some technology on that, so people are scheduled for that on the Wednesday.

Anyway, that's the work in progress and hopefully we can know more as the morning goes on.

MR. NETTLETON:  Sorry, Mr. Chairman, just to be clear with your comment about technology, am I thinking -- can you clarify?

MR. QUESNELLE:  I haven't -- Mr. Thiessen, if you have any information on that as to how Anwaatin was planning on attending.

MR. THIESSEN:  Nothing yet.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Not so much when, but do we know if there was -- I heard earlier they were potentially looking at a Skype --

MR. THIESSEN:  They are planning on showing a YouTube video, and I have inquired with our technical folks here and that’s all possible to do.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Will they be on site here, the Anwaatin witnesses?

MR. THIESSEN:  They will be on site; they just want the show a video.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I misunderstood.  So everything is fine.

MR. NETTLETON:  My understanding is there is only one witness that's appearing, is that correct?

MR. THIESSEN:  I think so.

MR. QUESNELLE:  So that said -- Ms. Girvan?

MS. GIRVAN:  I just had a question.  I just wanted to be clear.  So this panel is returning on Monday, is that correct?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you, because I think my time has now been squeezed down.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I recognize we’re messing up the scheduling.  Mr. Rubenstein?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I just see Mr. DeRose sent me an email, and I was also unclear.  So is the panel seeking to have Mr. Vels return?  Just not sure where we --

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes, I think that to satisfy the conversations that we are having, and provide input on the issues around the consolidated business plan and have him speak to that.  There may be issues on the transaction itself and we may want more than Mr. Vels from the original panel on that, because it’s getting into the actual transaction and the details of the transaction.  I think other members from the panel may want the attend.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that is along my line.  I was wondering -- one of the other issues I think Mr. Vels was 
-- one of the issues he would be speaking to is the timeline undertaking that was provided.  I am not sure if that was your expectation, that he could speak to that as well.

MR. QUESNELLE:  The chronology?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The chronology.  And if so, it seemed to me that Mr. Penstone would be very useful on that panel just reviewing the timeline, and a number of the things about planning and I am just -- it's not clear to me who between them has the knowledge.  Anyway, I leave that to the panel.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.  The review of the -- did you have any questions, Dr. Elsayed, on the chronology?

DR. ELSAYED:  I did not, no.  I think I've indicated that the questions that I raised about the evolution of the capital program from 2005 to the current approved business plan was clearly explained in the document that we received.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Did you have anything further on the chronology?

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I am waiting to see it enlarged, the --


MR. QUESNELLE:  That's right.  We do have the -- yeah, the additional information that Mr. Thompson requested to have it match up the time lines that we have seen in other documents on the chronology.

MR. NETTLETON:  Sorry, this was the inconsistency in the numbers that you pointed out --


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, taking out -- showing the three forecast years in the...

MR. NETTLETON:  Sorry, yes, I think it's been filed, sir.

MR. THOMPSON:  Oh, it has, okay, thanks.

MR. QUESNELLE:  So we had planned on having Mr. Vels go through the chronology.  Or that wasn't one of the reasons, would have been a driver for his return, Mr. Rubenstein, so we are satisfied that the chronology -- Mr. Thompson, unless you had questions on that once we see that, I suppose, but...

MR. NETTLETON:  I am mindful, sir, that we do need to come to a conclusion of the evidentiary portion of the hearing, and --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Oh, yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  -- and I'm -- if we are now going back into, you know, a revisiting of what has been clearly discussed prior -- in prior hearing days, I would obviously be concerned with that, recognizing that if, Dr. Elsayed, you are satisfied with the undertaking request as it was first raised.  I think that should be the driver here.

MR. QUESNELLE:  So Mr. Rubenstein, did you have specific questions on that chronology that you wanted to pose, or -- because --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I know Mr. DeRose does.  I don't know -- I just -- my quick -- my brief review of the chronology, there is a lot of planning dates.  That's the only reason I raised if he -- and obviously, if I am preparing for his return, to know which witness is obviously helpful.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Elsayed had a specific concern that has been addressed in the chronology -- the filing of the chronology.  Mr. Thompson would like that certain years expanded, so we are not sure whether or not we will have any more questions or not on that.

The -- if we think back to what drove that request in the first place, was the -- in lieu of the draft business plan that would have been created in November of '15 and not approved by the Board for the reasons that have been articulated, this was seen as an information piece that would be a substitute for that, as opposed to filing something which is in draft which is not -- wasn't developed for that purpose, and so this was a better way to get there.

If it has unearthed concerns -- or questions, rather, this has been an area that we spent a lot of time with in the planning, and if it clears things up I think we may have more crisp arguments, I think, Mr. Nettleton, so if Mr. Penstone is the person that could be -- address those timing issues as it relates to the planning, I think that might be wise to have him back, and recognizing what you are saying, that we need to close this, but that information came to light in, you know, in a -- crafted just recently, and it's -- if it can be used to address questions, then why don't we make it available.

MR. NETTLETON:  Yeah, I don't believe there is anything new in that document, it is just simply put it on a Gantt chart of sorts, to use the engineering phrase, to show where everything -- where all the pieces fit.  So I am just concerned that we are not going to use hearing time on Wednesday for purposes of revisiting those individual areas.

MR. QUESNELLE:  No, I recognize that, and if we could actually -- I want to make plans that are firm here that -- who would we like to have back on Monday?  I think -- why don't we nail that down?  I think Mr. Vels, Mr. Penstone.

MR. NETTLETON:  This would be Monday, sir.  Okay.

MR. QUESNELLE:  And -- sorry?  Yeah, and I'm thinking the...

MR. NETTLETON:  Ms. Cheung?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Ms. Cheung as well.  And I am just looking at the strategy panel.  I think that would probably be Mr. Penstone, Mr. Vels, and Ms. Cheung, if we could have them come back for the areas that we've just discussed.

MS. GIRVAN:  Mr. Chair, can I just confirm on behalf of Mr. DeRose, so will he be able to cross-examine on -- ask questions about the chronology on Monday?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  And that is -- specifically that document that came to light --


MS. GIRVAN:  Yup.

MR. QUESNELLE:  -- I think we want to limit the questions to --


MS. GIRVAN:  Yup.

MR. QUESNELLE:  -- questions on that document, okay?

MS. GIRVAN:  That's my understanding.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.

MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Chairman, I mean, I know we are into procedural matters --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  -- but have you turned your mind -- has the Panel turned its mind to the form of final argument?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, we did -- I know you had conversations with Ms. Lea, and the Panel accepted something that was -- had been put together that I believe there would be written final argument on December 22nd would be your argument in-chief in writing, and then subsequent, like, that -- the dates, I am not sure how far Ms. Lea canvassed with parties, but I think there was dates mid -- I forget the actual dates.  I have got an e-mail here somewhere.  But there was a -- the proposal to have Board Staff enter their argument prior to the other parties -- or to the parties, and then I think it was the end of the -- January 29th, something along that line.

MR. THIESSEN:  Mr. Chair, I can give you the dates.  I have the e-mail here.  It's Hydro One December 22nd, Staff January 12th, intervenors January 19th, and Hydro One reply January 26th.

MR. NETTLETON:  I am not suggesting we won't be using the next proposal I am making, but is there any reason why we couldn't put Hydro One final argument to the Friday, as opposed to the Thursday, Friday the 23rd?  Are you planning to review it two days before Christmas?

MR. QUESNELLE:  No, that's fine.

MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you.

MR. THOMPSON:  I am.

MR. QUESNELLE:  That will be final, Mr. Nettleton.

MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, with all that said, I think we have got all our loose ends tied up.

And Dr. Higgin, Mr. Stephenson, I see you reaching for the mic.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Yes, Mr. Chair.  During the break I had an opportunity to have a discussion with Mr. Rubenstein about Exhibit K9.7, and it appears that there may in fact be an error in that document.  We are going to run it down, and if there is an error, I certainly apologize for it, and we will file a corrected version.  I just wanted to let you know that we are working on that.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, thank you very much, Mr. Stephenson.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Dr. Higgin.
Cross-Examination by Dr. Higgin:

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair, good morning, panel, and my name is Roger Higgin, and I am representing Energy Probe Foundation at this hearing.

So as you will not be surprised, the focus of my discussion -- cross-examination is on peer group selection for competitive market analysis.  And it's particularly focused on bands 1 to 4, and not the other bands.  And so that's where I will be focusing.

Just to note, I will be using my compendium, which is Exhibit K8.3, as we go through this discussion.

So starting right there with Exhibit K8.3 --


MS. McKELLAR:  Excuse me, Dr. Higgin, could you give me a minute?  We are searching for your document.  I can also read it from the screen.

DR. HIGGIN:  I have another copy here, one other copy.

MS. McKELLAR:  Okay, thank you.  Thank you.

DR. HIGGIN:  So could we just go straight to page 14 of the document, something that Mr. McDonell will remember, as he knows elephants have very long memories.

So if you could just look at this transcript excerpt, and it's just a way to give some context and kick into this subject.  There is no real questions here.

So to paraphrase it, or you can paraphrase it, you indicate that you are expecting to try to be consistent, and that's the key word for us, in terms of the benchmarking study, such as the one that you have just proposed for -- as just filed for Mercer, and you indicate here:

"By and large, it would be the same peer groups."

I am focusing again on peer groups.

So just let's confirm that that is the case from your perspective, and it's as reflected in the new Mercer TDC benchmark study, the slide deck that's been filed at Exhibit 9.8.

MR. McDONELL:  I think that's a fair comment, Dr. Higgin.  If you go back to the original benchmarking study provided by Mercer in 2008, you might recall -- you might have been there yourself -- a couple stakeholdering sessions where everybody seemed to be in agreement with the peer groups at the time.

One of the purposes of the Mercer study was to be able to show trending over time, so that would suggest you try to be, you know, somewhat consistent.

But by the same token, there is always an objective to improve the study where possible.  And if I recall correctly, it might have been actually some of the intervenors suggested maybe look at some Ontario LDCs to include, and I think later on, after a study or two, we decided to add a few other peer groups with the hope to improve the overall study.


But I think the basic intent is to try and be consistent with the peer group for the Mercer study for the purpose of the Mercer study, which was to provide a broad-based benchmarking across the various groups that we have at Hydro One.


DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  So just to put that into context, I don't want to go through the peer group, but just to have you -- because we may just refer to it, look at our Exhibit K9.4, which is the roadmap that we put together showing the different peer groups.


Now, the one in the book is outdated, because we added the new peer group from the new study.  So does anybody -- do you have a copy of the updated Exhibit 9.4?

I have one copy I can give you here.  I am just going to pass by that, but I can give you another copy if this helps.

So this is the updated version that just includes the latest peer group from the new Mercer study.  Okay, that's what we have.  Thank you.

So just to confirm that as well as the Mercer study, total direct compensation, which is a different part of compensation, was benchmarked by Hugessen and Towers Watson for the bands 1 to 4.  And as was shown you by Mr. Rubenstein, some of the bands 5 to 10 were dealt with in the second Towers Watson study; that's correct?


MS. McKELLAR:  No, it’s not.  Technically, Hugessen, George Soare was on of your witnesses, they were retained by the board of directors to do benchmarking on two specific roles, and that pertained to the CEO and the CFO only.


DR. HIGGIN:  Which bands are those?


MS. McKELLAR:  Those are bands 1 and 2.


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, correct.


MS. McKELLAR:  Sorry, I thought you said band 1 to 4.


DR. HIGGIN:  No, but then Towers Watson --


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  -- which bands did they look at in the executive?


MS. McKELLAR:  They were asked to look at two separate Studies.  One were the balance of the executives, so those other roles in band 2 -- because there are more than just one role in band 2, band 2 to band 4 which are vice president above level, as well as all other management and non-represented staff.  And those are the ones when we talk about core operational or support services.


DR. HIGGIN:  But there’s two studies in evidence here.  So I will give you the references.  I 06-57, attachment 2 which deals with the higher bands, and attachment 3 that deals with the core group.


MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, and the distinction I was making was the work that Hugessen was retained to do was to set Compensation benchmarks for two specific roles: the CEO in band 1 and the CFO role in band 2.

There are other roles in band 2 as well; they were not asked to opine on that.


DR. HIGGIN:  But Towers Watson were.


MS. McKELLAR:  Towers Watson were, that's correct.


DR. HIGGIN:  That's all I was asking.


MS. McKELLAR:  Okay.


DR. HIGGIN:  The distinction between the two.  So can we now move on to this question of consistency, okay. And for consistency, can you tell me how were the TDC, total direct compensation, for the senior executive bands 1 to 4 determined in the past?  They weren't in the Mercer study, those particular ones.


MS. McKELLAR:  Right, it was not based on the Mercer is study.


If you look at the Mercer study, there is only, I believe, three roles and those are director roles and they are not in bands 1 to 4.


DR. HIGGIN:  Agreed.  There’s two roles actually to be correct if you check, there is actually two roles.


MS. McKELLAR:  Two roles, excuse me, yes.  We did not commission -- to the best of my knowledge, and I have been here for many years, have we ever done benchmarking studies on executive roles at Hydro One.

When we've needed to hire a role, we would go to search firm and find out what the market was paying, provide competency, skill sets, and so forth, and they would say this what this role's going to be.


But by and large, many of the roles we had were filled within through succession planning.  We didn't go to the external market that often.


DR. HIGGIN:  You have just outlined the methodology. There was no benchmarking; that was my context with respect to consistency.  This time there is benchmarking, correct?


MS. McKELLAR:  Correct.


DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  Now one other context issue here is how did the Broader Public Sector Accountability Act 210 BPSAA, play into that historic way of setting the levels of compensation for the senior executives bands 1 to 4?


MS. McKELLAR:  Okay, I can respond to that.  The Broader Public Sector Accountability Act which, if you will, expired in June, I believe, of 2015, constrained compensation for all management and non-represented staff, and there were certain rules and regulations that went along with that.


For example, you could not pay an incumbent to a role any more than you paid the prior incumbent.  So if we lost a senior executive, you could only pay what that other executive made or less; you couldn't pay any more.  And that, as I said, no longer applies to us.



Under Bill 91, which came into effect in June of 2015, we are no longer covered under that legislation.


DR. HIGGIN:  In fact, to be accurate, the new Act came in, BPSAA, in 2014 and you, as you said, were exempted from the provisions of that by Bill 91, correct?

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.  And subject to check, I believe Bill 91 came into effect in June of 2015.


DR. HIGGIN:  You are right.


MS. McKELLAR:  So we were subject to those constraints until such time.


DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  So could you please turn up page 15 of our compendium?

Just for context, this is an extract from the Board's decision in the last rates case – well, not in the last, in this rates case at page 24.  And it is also particularly in context of the Mercer benchmark that was provided for that case, the last one, the 2013 benchmark, correct?  You will accept that?

MR. McDONELL:  You are testing my --


MR. NETTLETON:  Sorry, Dr. Higgin, is this -- I don't have these cases in front of me.  Are they from Hydro One, the distribution rate case, or are they from transmission?

DR. HIGGIN:  This was from distribution.  But as I was just about to ask the witnesses, this was for consolidated corporate compensation as in this case, correct?

MR. McDONELL:  Are you asking did the Mercer study -- the last Mercer is study, was that a comprehensive corporate benchmarking?

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.


MR. McDONELL:  Yes, it was.


DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you very much.  So the Board goes through and makes some statements, and makes some findings with respect to the outcomes of that.


MR. McDONELL:  Sorry to interrupt, when I said comprehensive corporate benchmarking, that was not the bands 1 to 4.

DR. HIGGIN:  No, it did have a couple of executive positions, but this refers to --


MR. McDONELL:  Mid level.


DR. HIGGIN:  This refers to Mercer corporate -- but from a compensation envelope point of view, we are still dealing with all of the above, the payroll tables and everything else include that.


Anyway, this was agreed, confirm this was the Mercer study they were commenting on, and using as the basis of these comments.

MR. McDONELL:  Okay.


DR. HIGGIN:  So the question is then, looking from a plain reading, there is a number of things in here.  But perhaps one of them which, from a ratepayer perspective is quite important, it says:

"Ratepayers should not pay for total compensation premium over the market median."

Would you interpret that that is said here in this extract?

MR. McDONELL:  That's the plain interpretation of the English, yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.

And the other plain-English piece is that there was a reduction of 7.7 million in TC each year going for two-15 through to two-17.  That includes this test year.

MR. McDONELL:  Correct.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So I just ought to know again, coming back to the question you were -- we were talking about, corporate distribution and so on, this case was distribution, as Mr. Nettleton pointed out, how was this 7.7 million reduction attributed and allocated?  Was it to distribution, or was it an overall corporate one, corporate reduction, or did some of it go to transmission?

MR. McDONELL:  It was just distribution.

DR. HIGGIN:  So this was a reduction directly allocated to transmission -- to distribution.  Thank you very much.

So since this decision, as we have said many times here, Hydro One is in transition to become an investor-owned utility, and the big question, I think, that we are trying to grapple with in my mind is, is Hydro One now telling the Board in this transition is a game-changer with regard to total compensation and, if so, for which groups of employees is it a game-changer?  And start with, say, executive management, Society, and PWU, the four groups.  Perhaps you would like to elaborate a bit.

MS. McKELLAR:  Sure, I can begin.  If Mr. McDonell wants to add in he is welcome to.

As I said, we engaged Willis -- at the time Towers Watson, now Willis Towers Watson, to do a benchmarking study of our executives, vice-president and above, and we saw with our current compensation programs we were about the 20, 25th percent of our market, our peer group, because we did not have any long-term incentive programs, and as I testified yesterday, they are a very typical component of any publicly traded compensation program for executives at the vice-president and above level.

So we knew we had to add in some elements, and we knew that our total compensation package was low, and we could not attract the talent we needed to take Hydro One through this transformation that is so necessary as we become an investor-owned utility.

So we do know that we did have to use a different peer group, we had to add in some different components for a compensation program to get it up to market.  We also, as I mentioned earlier today, we changed our pension plan.  In order to make it more affordable we went to a defined contribution, which is much less costly than our defined benefit program.

We also have done other things like put a cap on pensionable earnings, which is an amendment which is just in the process of going through now and has not yet gone through FSCO, so these are things we are doing to be cognizant of the affordability of the compensation plans, but the compensation plans that we had in place at the time and in order to attract the C suite that we have just attracted to Hydro One, we were way out of market.

And those compensation plans now have brought us to market with what we think is an appropriate peer group that was validated by two different consulting firms:  Willis Towers Watson, who did it on behalf of management and was approved by our board of directors, and Hugessen Consulting, who is the independent consulting working for the board who also opined that it was an appropriate peer group given the work that we would be doing as a publicly traded company.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  Can I just add a question then on the peer group?  There actually were, for the CFO and CEO -- let's focus on bands 1 and 2 -- there were two different peer groups that were used, one by Hugessen and one by Towers Watson that was broader but then encompassed bands 1 and 2 as well.  Am I correct?

MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.  So we will come to that in a minute, thank you.

So turning back now to the question of executive compensation and market, can you turn up our Exhibit EB-216-160 (sic).  That's an IRR from Energy Probe, which is Exhibit I, tab 11, Schedule 29, and part (a), and a copy is in our compendium.  So...

MR. QUESNELLE:  What page, Dr. Higgin?

DR. HIGGIN:  It's page 16, Mr. Chair, in our compendium.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

DR. HIGGIN:  So if the witnesses have that.

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, we do.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  So perhaps you could just confirm what this table shows?  I believe it shows a breakout from the payroll tables for the top executive positions, and it shows -- but it shows TDC, total direct compensation, but it also shows some other elements on the right-hand side, which are the other allowances.  Is that what this shows?

MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  So just, would you try to describe for us what this table shows us regarding the progression of the number of employees, wages, and the various base pay incentives and long-term incentives in this table?

Could you describe what this shows us?  Or if you like I can summarize it for you and you can agree.  I don't mind.

MS. McKELLAR:  I don't mind.  I don't mind summarizing.  It shows us, if you start at the left, you've got the number of employees in bands 1 to 4 throughout the years 2013 to 2018.  We have total wages, which is a build-up of base pay, which is the annual salary, the short-term incentive is the one-year incentive program, which of course is variable and at-risk pay, long-term incentive program is over a three-year period, it too is at-risk pay, and other allowances can be things like vacation payout and so forth, or it could be -- I believe it could even be employment continuity perhaps with a former executive.  I don't have all the breakdown, but there are some other elements in the other allowances.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you, that's helpful.  And from a quantum point of view, the progression shows that from 6.58 million in two-13 we will arrive at 19.55 million in two-18, the second test year that's filed; correct?

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, that number is correct.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.

And then the other number, just to highlight here, is the number has gone from 16 to 24 executives, senior executives, in bands 1 to 4; correct?

MS. McKELLAR:  That's correct.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So what I was trying to find on the record was, is there a list of all of these senior executive positions and their aggregate compensation like the table?  So if I was to go into the table, say, let's talk about two-17 and say, oh, in two-17 there is 24, and their total -- I just want total -- compensation is 16.2 million; is there somewhere in the evidence that I could see which positions are making up this 24 and their aggregate compensation?  Again, aggregate.  I don't want individual.

MS. McKELLAR:  Right.  No, there is not a list of vice-presidents.  It's very easy to obtain.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  I think it would help me anyway to understand this current list.

Going from the table -- and so for example if you added somebody in two-14, that would be so indicated in the table, et cetera, so it may have to be a progression from the exhibit, if you could do that.

MS. McKELLAR:  May I clarify?  My apologies, I thought you were asking me for current time which executive positions are in the 2017 and the 2018.  You are asking me to go back to 2013 and recreate who was in the company at 2013?

DR. HIGGIN:  If you don't have that --


MS. McKELLAR:  At those levels.

DR. HIGGIN:  -- then that's fine.  We are not going to --


MS. McKELLAR:  I don't have it --


DR. HIGGIN:  -- ask you to do that, right.

MS. McKELLAR:  Sure, I don't have it with me today.

DR. HIGGIN:  No, I didn't expect you would.

So perhaps, Mr. Chair, we could start with two-16, which is the current year.  I think that that's the point where we have the full 24 new executives.

MR. McDONELL:  Could I have one moment with Ms. McKellar?

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, please.

MR. McDONELL:  Dr. Higgin, I just want to take you back to the technical conference kick-off with Mr. Hubert
-- spoke about some of the executive compensation that would not be part of the revenue requirement.  I am not sure if you recall that or not.

DR. HIGGIN:  No, I don't.

MR. McDONELL:  But in this current filing there are in that IR you just showed us, I think it was 24 executives, some of those executives are not in the revenue requirement.  Did you want me to take you through which ones that are not?


DR. HIGGIN:  No, I would say just as long as you exclude them, I am not interested.  It is only those that are in this application and that form -- I didn't realize that distinction when you made this response to us, that you had actually included executives that were for telecom or other people.

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yeah.  So certainly I think it would be not relevant to include those.  And so you may have to reconcile with the total wages to try and make the numbers fit.  Okay.  If that's okay, Mr. Chairman, I would have one addition to that, which I hope will be helpful, and that is can you give us a rough idea of the split between -- yes, distribution and transmission.  A rough idea.

MR. McDONELL:  Yes, we do that through the Black & Veatch allocation methodology.

DR. HIGGIN:  That's what I thought, B & V would have it.  So we have an undertaking.

MR. MILLAR:  J10.35.
UNDERTAKING NO. J10.35:  TO PROVIDE A ROUGH IDEA OF THE SPLIT BETWEEN DISTRIBUTION AND TRANSMISSION;  to rebuild the table to include the number of executives from 2013 to 2018, the number of employees that would fit into these categories from the regulated businesses and their titles and with the commensurate wages

MR. QUESNELLE:  Dr. Higgin, you focussed it to 2016 but I think the Panel would be interested, and just for the regulated business only, and I think that -- I would have thought the same thing, that the response to this would have pointed that out that this was unregulated and regulated.  We are in a revenue requirement application here, so my first thought was that this was all being part of the request.

But if we could have this table rebuilt with the number of executives that the 16 -- from 2013 to 2018, the number of employees that would fit into these categories from the regulated businesses and their titles and with the commensurate, you know, wages.  I think that's what -- if we could expand on your undertaking, Dr. Higgin?


DR. HIGGIN:  That would be very fine.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Any clarification required on that?


MS. McKELLAR:  No clarification required.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Chairman, I think this goes to the conversation we had yesterday and I call it the admonishment regarding the total compensation.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I wouldn't call it that, Mr. Nettleton.

MR. NETTLETON:  I do.  But I think it, again, is explained in that light of this is how the company has always looked at it, how the client has always looked at it.  But I think obviously there is some refinement you are asking for, and we can do that.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, thank you.

DR. HIGGIN:  We have the undertaking number.

MR. QUESNELLE:  We have one, yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay, sorry I didn't hear it.  Okay, I would like to now turn up this in my compendium and it is actually page 17 that we start on.  I am not really going to spend much time on page 17, but it is just to give the record Exhibit I, tab 11, schedule 23 and parts (b) and (c) of this interrogatory -- (c) and (d) of this interrogatory response.

What I am going to turn to focus on here is basically on page 18, but -- for context I started on the other, but page 18. And this deals with the response to how these higher compensation for the CEO and CFO that we have been discussing, the benchmarking, going to benchmarking.

So at the bottom there a statement in the last paragraph which I would ask you to read which then expresses your view on the competitive market assessment for the new CEO and CFO appointments. Just have a chance to read that.  You have?


MS. McKELLAR:  I am familiar with this, yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  So then what's bothering me and I want to have a correction if needed or explanation, if not, and that is that this seems to encompass as we have discussed not only the Hugessen, which is stated here quite clearly, but it also includes the Towers Watson study for those bands 1 and 2; is that correct?

MS. McKELLAR:  I am not sure of your question, Dr. Higgin.  Hugessen consulting was engaged to benchmark two specific roles, CEO and CFO.  Towers Watson was engaged to look at all the remaining roles in band 2, through to band 4.  So if your question is was Hugessen retained to benchmark more executive roles, I would say, no, it was for two specific and it was to hire those two executives so I am misunderstanding you.

DR. HIGGIN:  Mr. Soare gave us a complete chronology of that.

MS. McKELLAR:  I know.  I heard it.

DR. HIGGIN:  But why I am puzzled is this:  It's quite clear that Towers Watson used the eight utility peer group.

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  And then came up with a number, and then they used the new 21-member group and came up with another number, Towers Watson.

MS. McKELLAR:  Towers Watson, yes, and the reason they did it and I believe Mr. Resch explained this yesterday is that for many roles you cannot find a comparator role if you were just using the eight companies that were used to benchmark CEO and CFO.  There are some roles for which you need a larger peer group, quite frankly, and those eight roles were contained in the 21 but we needed additional roles because we couldn't match all our roles.


When we are setting compensation we do two things:  We look at the range for the level of the role, and then we look at role-specific compensation.  So we need that role specific.  So that's why they needed a 21 peer group as opposed to just the eight because not all roles could be found in those eight companies.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you for that explanation.  I will go there and discuss that in a minute. But just on this topic, can you confirm, or I will go to the transcript, that yesterday Mr. -- sorry Tuesday Mr. Soare indicated to me and she is going to pull up the transcript, that the -- his benchmark, which was the eight utility, came up with a number that was close to P75.  Can you confirm that's what he said?  I can go through the transcript if you haven't read it.

MS. McKELLAR:  Yes, for the original peer group, and for the secondary it came into the bottom quartile.  But, yes for the original one it was P75 for the eight.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right, thank you.

MS. McKELLAR:  Correct.

DR. HIGGIN:  So I don't need to go through the detail of that, thank you.  And then we come back to this question that I asked Mr. Resch this same question I think if we look at the transcript at pages -- and that is Volume 9, pages 126 to 127, and perhaps pick up on two points here. He notes that the 21-company executive peer group was developed with Hydro One, and that's at the top of this page, Mr. Resch says right, da da da.  And then lower down I asked him why didn't you use the eight group which was used in the past by Hugessen and by -- for the IPO as well, why didn't you use that.  And he responded, he says -- he explains why.

MS. McKELLAR:  Um-hmm.

DR. HIGGIN:  So my question to you is:  Why did you agree to replace the eight-member utility peer group which Hugessen had used, and of course was used as one of the comparators by Towers Watson with the 21 for the CEO and CFO specifically?


MR. NETTLETON:  Sorry, Mr. Chairman, what I heard was a question directed to Ms. McKellar about why the report, the author of the report chose a different peer group.  Have I got that right?

DR. HIGGIN:  You got it wrong, sir.  Can I just explain?  Maybe I should rephrase the question. I had the word "you", Hydro One, because Mr. Resch made it quite clear that this happened in discussions with the HR committee on August the 24th, 2015.  Maybe as well other times but he made it very clear that's why I used the word "you", why did you agree.

MS. McKELLAR:  And may I go back to and I must be missing -- I apologize for not understanding your question, but there were not enough role-specific information using only the original eight.  We had to expand it Towers Watson is an expert in this field they brought the peer group to us based on criteria that they felt was comparable to Hydro One, things like revenues, cap ex, asset intensive, they brought the peer group.  We looked at the peer group we presented it, and the board said yes.

In our opinion, this is a very good peer group to benchmark our compensation.  We do not replace the eight.  The eight are part of the 21, but we needed to have additional companies in order to benchmark all of our executive roles.

And I apologize if that's not answering your question, but that is why there are 21 rather than just eight.  We couldn't find all of our roles if we only used the eight.

DR. HIGGIN:  Mr. Resch confirmed that, and that is not quite my question.

MS. McKELLAR:  Okay.

DR. HIGGIN:  My question was all for -- specifically for the CEO and CFO, why did you -- why was the change made from the eight-utility to the big group --


MS. McKELLAR:  We did not -- it was not changed.  It was simply they were looking at other band-2 roles, and I said, "Please look at other bands other than just the CFO, so what an appropriate total direct comp would be."


We did not use the information to revisit the CEO or the CFO compensation.  It's just another data point, if you will, but it wasn't even discussed with the board.  Those two roles were set by Hugessen and were agreed to by the board of directors.  In doing their work they did the full bands 1 to 4, but we did not revisit total comp or anything in that order.

DR. HIGGIN:  So can we just go to the transcript in Volume 9, pages 130 to 131, please.  And this is my discussion with Mr. Resch.  I will just give you a minute to read this.

And when this discussion was on we were looking at his -- that is, Towers Watson's -- bar chart, which had at the bottom certain compensation levels for the CEO and CFO at P50, amongst others.  The bar charts were showing that.

And my questions to him, is quite clear set out here, and he said, yes, this was the case, if we had used the eight utility peer group the compensation that we would have benchmarked to at P50 would have been -- and he says it here -- 500,000 less, but that would be 1.5 million for the CEO and 1.2 million for the -- take it to my math.  So that's all -- I am just trying to understand what happened there.

MS. McKELLAR:  That -- and I just want to be clear that that benchmarking was not used by the board of directors, nor has it been revisited to look at the CEO or the CFO pay.  I simply asked him to do the study of bands 1 to 4, and he included it using the 21.  That was only for my --


DR. HIGGIN:  Yeah.

MS. McKELLAR:  -- that has not been used to determine any pay levels.

DR. HIGGIN:  So perhaps we should bring this to a very close -- so the fact is that the CEO and CFO, based on Hugessen or -- it doesn't matter.  The Towers Watson utility group compensated at P75.

MS. McKELLAR:  Those two roles are compensated at P75 of the smaller peer group that was used by Hugessen; correct.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you, those are all my questions on this topic.  I will leave all my other questions because of the time, sir, on other things, such as the scorecard and so on, to other parties.  So -- but I think this is the focus of my examination, and so I will leave it there, and thank you very much to the panel for their responses, and that's it, thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Dr. Higgin.

MR. THOMPSON:  Can I just ask one question before we break?  When was the deal made with the two head honchos?  What's the time?

MS. McKELLAR:  I believe Mr. Vels joined us in July of 2015, and it was important that we have the CFO, obviously, because one of the first jobs he had to do was to handle the IPO.  And Mr. Schmidt joined us in September of 2015, and his first role was to do the road show with Mr. Vels --


MR. THOMPSON:  And was the Towers Watson report in existence at that time?

MS. McKELLAR:  The Towers Watson, going by memory, I believe we presented it in October of 2016, after they -- this particular report is October 2015, and they had started respectively in July and September.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  So they were signed up before the report --


MS. McKELLAR:  Oh, yes, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, thanks.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Nettleton, I ask you for you wishes one way or the other as far as commencing on Monday.  Should we start with the return panel or carry on with finance?  We want to get it all done on Monday, you know, as far as the return panel goes, but...

MR. NETTLETON:  I will need to consult with Mr. Vels in terms of his availability.  I know he has availability on Monday.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yeah.

MR. NETTLETON:  I think probably it would be best to start with that panel, with the return panel --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.

MR. NETTLETON:  -- but I need to consult with her to make sure that everyone is available --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, suffice to know we are flexible --


MR. NETTLETON:  Yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  -- and we will go with that.

MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  And Mr. Thiessen, have we heard back from Anwaatin at this juncture?

MR. THIESSEN:  Anwaatin reports that they can do Wednesday.  They just want to confirm it.  But they think it's a doable date.

MR. QUESNELLE:  All right.  Let's work on that working assumption that that will happen, and we will regroup on Monday morning at 9:00 a.m.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Chairman, just --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  -- a question about Environmental Defence.  Will they -- are they a hard date on Monday, or do they have flexibility to move over to Wednesday?

MR. QUESNELLE:  That was another question that we had...

MR. THIESSEN:  I have asked them, but I have got no response so far.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, so -- but suffice to say we will be sitting Monday, and we will be sitting Wednesday, Anwaatin definitely Wednesday, subject to their confirmation of that, but that's our intent.

MR. NETTLETON:  I just need to prepare cross-examination for Environmental --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Certainly.

MR. NETTLETON:  -- Defence, that's all --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Yeah, let's plan on it being Monday.

Okay.  Thank you very much.  Have a good weekend.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 12:20 p.m.
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